Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: June 25, 2023 REVISED: September 4, 2023 ACCEPTED: November 20, 2023 PUBLISHED: November 28, 2023

SymTFTs and duality defects from 6d SCFTs on 4-manifolds

Jin Chen,^a Wei Cui,^{b,c} Babak Haghighat^{c,b} and Yi-Nan Wang^{d,e}
^a Department of Physics, Xiamen University, Xiamen, 361005, P.R. China
^b Yanqi Lake Beijing Institute of Mathematical Sciences and Applications (BIMSA), Huairou District, Beijing 101408, P.R. China
^c Yau Mathematical Sciences Center, Tsinghua University, Beijing, 100084, P.R. China
^d School of Physics, Peking University, Beijing 100871, P.R. China
^e Center for High Energy Physics, Peking University, Beijing 100871, P.R. China *E-mail:* zenofox@gmail.com, cwei@bimsa.cn, babakhaghighat@tsinghua.edu.cn, ynwang@pku.edu.cn

ABSTRACT: In this work we study particular TQFTs in three dimensions, known as Symmetry Topological Field Theories (or SymTFTs), to identify line defects of two-dimensional CFTs arising from the compactification of 6d (2,0) SCFTs on 4-manifolds M_4 . The mapping class group of M_4 and the automorphism group of the SymTFT switch between different absolute 2d theories or global variants. Using the combined symmetries, we realize the topological defects in these global variants. Our main example is $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. For N M5-branes the corresponding 2d theory inherits \mathbb{Z}_N 0-form symmetries from the SymTFT. We reproduce the orbifold groupoid for theories with \mathbb{Z}_N 0-form symmetries and realize the duality defects at fixed points of the coupling constant under elements of the mapping class group. We also study other Hirzebruch surfaces, del Pezzo surfaces, as well as the connected sum of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. We find a rich network of global variants connected via automorphisms and realize more interesting topological defects. Finally, we derive the SymTFT on more general 4-manifolds and provide two examples.

KEYWORDS: Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Global Symmetries, Topological Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2305.09734



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Compactification of 6d SCFTs on 4-manifolds	4
	2.1 6d SCFTs as relative theories	4
	2.2 SymTFT of $T_N[M_4]$	7
3	$ ext{6d} \; \mathcal{N} = (2,0) \; ext{SCFTs on} \; \mathbb{P}^1 imes \mathbb{P}^1$	12
	3.1 \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory	12
	3.2 Orbifold groupoid and global variants	14
	3.3 Duality defects	26
	3.4 Connected sum of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$	29
4	6d $\mathcal{N}=(2,0)$ SCFTs on Hirzebruch surfaces \mathbb{F}_l	34
	4.1 Twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory	34
	4.2 Global variants	35
	4.3 Topological defects	40
5	6 d $\mathcal{N}=(2,0)$ SCFTs on del Pezzo surfaces	41
6	6d $\mathcal{N}=(2,0)$ SCFTs on general 4-manifolds	46
	6.1 $T^2 \times S^2$	47
	6.2 Enriques surface	48
7	Conclusion and outlook	50

1 Introduction

Six-dimensional superconformal field theories (6d SCFTs) are UV complete theories with conformal symmetry and supersymmetry in the highest possible dimension [1–13]. Compactification of 6d SCFTs on a *d*-dimensional manifold M_d leads to many interesting (6–*d*)dimensional SCFTs [14–63]. In particular, for 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs realized on the worldvolume of N M5-branes, the twisted compactification over 4-manifolds M_4 give a large class of two-dimensional theories denoted by $T_N[M_4]$ [56–58], and more recently such reductions have been extended to 6d $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ SCFTs [61–63]. The theories $T_N[M_4]$, defined through the 4-manifold M_4 , are in general difficult to study since in most cases the Lagrangian description is unknown. It is believed that, in interesting cases, they will eventually flow to non-trivial interacting 2d SCFTs.

Global symmetry is one of the most important tools in the study of quantum field theories. Recently, through the association of symmetries with topological defects [64, 65], the concept of symmetry has been greatly generalized to include higher-form symmetries [37, 64–84], higher-group symmetries [85–96], and non-invertible symmetries [97–151]. The fusion of non-invertible defects does not obey the group law and they are described by (higher)fusion categories [152–154]. Non-invertible symmetries were first found in 2d CFTs, and recently constructed in many higher-dimensional theories. In this paper, we will study the global symmetries and in particular the non-invertible ones, in the theory $T_N[M_4]$, using the concept of SymTFTs.

Symmetry topological field theory (SymTFT) is a topological field theory on a compact (d+1)-dimensional space X_{d+1} , which encodes symmetries, anomalies, and global structures for theories on the boundary $X_d = \partial X_{d+1}$ [155–160]. 6d SCFTs are relative theories living on the boundary of a non-invertible 7d TQFT [161, 162]. Taking into account this relative nature, it becomes apparent that one has to study the compactification of the 6d/7d coupled system on M_4 . The 2d theory $T_N[M_4]$ is in general also relative and coupled to a non-invertible 3d TQFT obtained from the reduction of the 7d TQFT. This 3d TQFT is the SymTFT for $T_N[M_4]$. To make $T_N[M_4]$ absolute, one needs to choose a maximal isotropic sublattice in $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ [163] or polarization on M_4 [164]. Combining with other discrete choices of data, one can find all global variants of $T_N[M_4]$.

From the perspective of the 3d SymTFT, the maximal isotropic sublattice is equivalent to a choice of topological boundary condition [165] rendering the fields corresponding to this subset non-propagating background fields. The 0-form symmetry of the 3d SymTFT that transforms between these boundaries gives rise to different 2d topological manipulations among global variants of $T_N[M_4]$ [166]. In our setup, this symmetry can be obtained from the automorphism group of $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ denoted by $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$. Thus, by employing the SymTFT, one can obtain the global variants of $T_N[M_4]$ and study how they transform under topological manipulations.

Similar to the class S theory, the automorphism group of $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z})$ or mapping class group MCG(M_4) leads to Montonen-Olive-like dualities that also transform different global variants of $T_N[M_4]$ into each other. Also, there are coupling constants of $T_N[M_4]$ corresponding to geometric parameters of M_4 which transform non-trivially under such dualities. At fixed points of such transformations, combinations of the duality transformations and topological manipulations, captured by MCG(M_4), give rise to topological defects known as *duality defects*. When the combination involves a gauging operation, the defects are noninvertible. In this way, one can construct interesting non-invertible defects in $T_N[M_4]$. Similar constructions for the class S theory in four dimensions have been studied in [110, 159].

The plan of the current paper is as follows. In section 2, we give a general overview of SymTFTs from dimensional reduction and the construction of absolute theories. We then proceed in section 3 to study the compactification of 6d N = (2,0) theory of type A_{N-1} on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. The SymTFT is the standard \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. With the help of this SymTFT, we find the orbifold groupoid and global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ for all prime N, as well the cases of N = 4 and N = 6. An interesting observation is that when N is even, one can identify both bosonic and fermionic absolute theories of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ and two topological manipulations, one of which is gauging and another one is stacking the Arf invariant. For the cases of N prime, we identify all global variants and possible topological manipulations. We also discuss how to generalize the result to the case when N = pq is not prime, but a product of two primes p and q, using two examples, namely N = 4 for p, q not coprime and N = 6 for p, q coprime. We can reproduce all orbifold groupoids studied in [166], and without too much effort, we can study the cases for N > 6.

With the knowledge of the global variants and how they transform under duality and topological manipulations, we discuss the topological defects in each global variant of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. It turns out that there exist duality defects for each N. In particular, for N = 2, one can show that the duality defect can be related to invertible symmetry by duality, and thus is non-intrinsic non-invertible, but for all other cases, the duality is intrinsic non-invertible.

We extend our analysis to the connect sum of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. The SymTFT in this case is $\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ gauge theory. For N = 2 and N = 3, we compute the maximal isotropic sublattice and obtain the same orbifold groupoid studied in [166]. Considering the possible SPT phases, the global variants can be obtained from the complement of these sublattices. After that, we determine the mapping class group and the coupling constants. Interestingly, at particular value, these couplings are invariant under a set of dualities of a D_8 group. We find some topological manipulations that can undo the action of these dualities in some specific global variant. Since these topological manipulations involving different ways of gauging, we can realize non-invertible defects described by $TY(D_8)$ category.

Next, in section 4, we study the other Hirzebruch surfaces. As we will show in the main text, it is sufficient to consider the case of \mathbb{F}_1 . The SymTFT is the twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. In analogy with the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, using the SymTFT, we study the global variants of the theory $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ and possible topological manipulations for each N. Similar to the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, one can find two absolute theories for odd N. However, they are not related by gauging, but some other topological operation. For even N, there are significantly fewer global variants compared with the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case. One observation is that there is an anomaly for gauging \mathbb{Z}_2 . It is interesting to find the physical understanding of these topological operations. Similarly, we find the mapping class group, couplings and identified topological defects for prime N, N = 4 and N = 6. We compute the 0-form symmetries of \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theories up to N = 20 and twisted gauge theory up to N = 11 from the perspective of geometry. For odd N, the result is the same as the ones found in [167], while for even N, our result gives the 0-form symmetry for spin (twisted) \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theories.

We then move to study the del Pezzo surfaces, particularly dP_2 , in section 5. We calculate the mapping class group of dP_2 and determine the couplings constants using invariant volumes. Under a transformation generated by a \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup of the class mapping group, these couplings are invariant at a extended loci in the conformal manifold, which implies the exsistence of the duality defect. However, the SymTFT does not have the form of a standard Dijkgraaf-Witten theory. It would be interesting to study it on its own.

Finally, in section 6, we consider $T_N[M_4]$ with a general compact 4-manifold M_4 , which is allowed to have 1-cycles, 3-cycles, as well as torsional cycles. From the 7d TQFT of the A_{N-1} (2,0) theory, we derive the 3d SymTFT for $T_N[M_4]$ using differential cohomology [155, 157]. As examples, we consider the 4-manifold $T^2 \times S^2$ with non-trivial (1-)3-cycles and the Enriques surface with torsional cycles. We compute the intersection numbers in both examples and analyze the symmetry and mixed anomalies.

2 Compactification of 6d SCFTs on 4-manifolds

In six dimensions, there exist six-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs that can be understood as relative theories living on the boundary of a non-invertible seven-dimensional topological quantum field theory [161–163]. However, the partition function of such theories on a sixmanifold M_6 is not well-defined, and instead, the theory is better understood as a state in the Hilbert space of the bulk TQFT.

In this section, we will first review how to define the partition vector of these 6d theories by choosing a discrete set of data. Next, we will discuss the dimensional reduction of 6d relative theories, which involves coupling the 7d/6d systems on 4-manifolds to obtain absolute theories upon compactification. Finally, we will focus on the compactification of the 7d TQFT of the 6d SCFTs of type A_{N-1} on a 4-manifold with non-trivial 2-cycles. We will study various properties of the resulting three-dimensional SymTFT that will be useful in subsequent sections.

2.1 6d SCFTs as relative theories

In a 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFT of type g, the defect group \mathscr{D} is given by the center of g [163, 168]. When \mathscr{D} is non-trivial, the theory is relative and the bulk 7d TQFT is non-invertible. The partition function of such a 6d relative theory on a manifold M_6 is not a number but a vector in the Hilbert space of the 6+1-dimensional TQFT on $M_6 \times \mathbb{R}$. To specify it, we need to choose a discrete set of data that will be discussed in the following.

Consider the specific case of the 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ theory of type A_{N-1} , denoted by \mathcal{T}_N . The defect group, in this case, is $\mathscr{D} = \mathbb{Z}_N$, implying that the theory is relative when N > 1. The 7d bulk TQFT associated with this theory is described by the action [161]

$$S_{7d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int_{W_7} c \wedge dc \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where $c \in H^3(W_7, U(1))$ is a 3-form field. The corresponding Wilson 3-surfaces of this theory are given by

$$\Phi(M_3) := e^{\oint_{M_3} c}, \qquad M_3 \in H_3(W_7, \mathbb{Z}_N)$$
(2.2)

On a constant time 6d slice $M_6 \subset W_7$, the Wilson 3-surfaces satisfy the following equal-time commutation relation [159]

$$\Phi(M_3)\Phi(M'_3) = e^{\langle M_3, M'_3 \rangle} \Phi(M'_3)\Phi(M_3) .$$
(2.3)

where the intersection pairing is

$$\langle M_3, M_3' \rangle = \frac{2\pi i}{N} \int_{M_6} \omega_{M_3} \cup \omega_{M_3'}$$
(2.4)

with ω_{M_3} and $\omega_{M'_3}$ being the Poincare dual of M_3 and M'_3 . Besides, Wilson 3-surfaces $\Phi(M_3)$ also satisfy the following quantum torus algebra

$$\Phi(M_3)\Phi(M'_3) = e^{\frac{1}{2}\langle M_3, M'_3 \rangle} \Phi(M_3 + M'_3) .$$
(2.5)

The 6d SCFT can be understood as a state in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}(M_6)$ of this 7d TQFT. In order to specify this state, one must first fix a basis for $\mathcal{H}(M_6)$, which is specified by a maximal isotropic sublattice $\mathcal{L} \subset H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$, i.e. a maximal subset such that¹

$$\langle M_3, M_3' \rangle = 0, \qquad \forall M_3, M_3' \in \mathcal{L}.$$

$$(2.6)$$

With \mathcal{L} , one can find a set of commuting Wilson 3-surfaces. These Wilson 3-surfaces define a basis in $\mathcal{H}(M_6)$ given by

$$\Phi(M_3)|\mathcal{L},0\rangle = |\mathcal{L},0\rangle, \qquad \forall M_3 \in \mathcal{L}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where $|\mathcal{L}, 0\rangle$ is a state in $\mathcal{H}(M_6)$ invariant under $\Phi(M_3)$. The rest of the states in $\mathcal{H}(M_6)$ are obtained from elements in $\mathcal{L}^{\perp} = H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)/\mathcal{L}$ by

$$\Phi(M'_3)|\mathcal{L},0\rangle = |\mathcal{L},M'_3\rangle, \qquad \forall M'_3 \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}.$$
(2.8)

An element $M_3 \in \mathcal{L}$ induces an action on the state $|\mathcal{L}, M'_3\rangle$ given by [163]

$$\Phi(M_3)|\mathcal{L}, M_3'\rangle = e^{\langle M_3, M_3'\rangle}|\mathcal{L}, M_3'\rangle .$$
(2.9)

Given a choice of \mathcal{L} , the "partition vector" of the 6d SCFT is given by [159]

$$|A_{N-1}\rangle = \sum_{M'_3 \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}} Z_{\mathcal{L}}(M'_3) | \mathcal{L}, M'_3 \rangle, \qquad (2.10)$$

where the coefficients $Z_{\mathcal{L}}(M'_3)$ are the 6d conformal blocks [162]. To obtain the partition function, one can consider the geometry $W_7 = M_6 \times I$ and the choice of the \mathcal{L} can be understood as the choice of the topological boundary condition for the 7d TQFT. The partition function of the 6d SCFT on the boundary is then given by

$$Z_{\mathcal{L}}(M_6) = \langle \mathcal{L}, 0 | A_{N-1} \rangle, \qquad (2.11)$$

and

$$Z_{\mathcal{L}}(M_6, M'_3) = \langle \mathcal{L}, M'_3 | A_{N-1} \rangle .$$
 (2.12)

Thus, by the choice of maximal isotropic sublattice \mathcal{L} and elements in \mathcal{L}^{\perp} , one can obtain partition functions from relative 6d SCFTs.

Compactification on 4-manifolds. Consider the 6d SCFT living on $M_6 = \Sigma_2 \times M_4$ and the corresponding 7d bulk theory on $W_7 = W_3 \times M_4$. After compactifying this 7d/6d coupled system on M_4 , one obtains a 2d theory on Σ_2 denoted by $T_N[M_4]$ and a 3d TQFT on $\partial W_3 = \Sigma_2$. Note that the 2d theory is a relative theory coupled to a non-trivial TQFT in the 3d bulk. As discussed in [163, 164], to obtain 2d absolute theories, one needs to choose a maximal isotropic sublattice in the internal geometry.

¹Note that the maximal isotropic sublattice $\mathcal{L} \subset H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ is the dual of those defined in $H^3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ [163, 164].

Assuming that M_4 does not have any 1-cycles or 3-cycles, $H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ splits via the Künneth formula as

$$H_3(M_6,\mathbb{Z}_N)\cong H_2(M_4,\mathbb{Z}_N)\otimes H_1(\Sigma_2,\mathbb{Z}_N)$$
.

Thus, any two 3-cycles $M_3, M'_3 \in H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$, can be decomposed as

$$M_3 = M_2 \times \gamma, \qquad M'_3 = M'_2 \times \gamma',$$

with $M_2, M'_2 \in H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ and $\gamma, \gamma' \in H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$. The intersection between M_3 and M'_3 becomes

$$\langle M_3, M'_3 \rangle = (M_2, M'_2) \times \langle \gamma, \gamma' \rangle, \qquad (2.13)$$

where (-, -) is defined by the intersection form of M_4

$$Q: H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N) \times H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N) \to \mathbb{Z}_N.$$

$$(2.14)$$

and $\langle -, - \rangle$ is the standard anti-symmetric intersection pairing for Σ_2 .

Similar to the theory of class S [114, 159, 163], to obtain absolute theories on Σ_2 , one needs to specify a maximal isotropic sublattice $L \subset H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ such that

$$(M_2, M'_2) = 0, M_2, M'_2 \in L.$$
 (2.15)

More explicitly, the intersection is

$$(M_2, M_2') = \vec{v}_{M_2} Q \vec{v}_{M_2'} \tag{2.16}$$

where \vec{v}_{M_2} and $\vec{v}_{M'_2}$ are representatives of M_2 and M'_2 in $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$. According to equation (2.13), choosing an L automatically defines a 6d maximal isotropic sublattice $\mathcal{L} \subset H_3(M_6, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ given by

$$\mathcal{L} = L \otimes H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N) \,. \tag{2.17}$$

As we will see, different choices of L define different topological boundary conditions for the 3d SymTFT on W_3 and thus lead to distinct absolute theories on Σ_2 denoted by $T_{N,L}[M_4]$.

Besides that, each absolute theory can have different global properties [66, 169]. To specify the global variants, one also needs to choose a specific representative of the nontrivial classes of $L^{\perp} \otimes H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$, with $L^{\perp} := H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)/L$. The choice of representatives in L^{\perp} determines the possible stacking of the SPT phases and the choice of elements in $H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ determines the background fields for the corresponding zero-form symmetries in the 2d theory. After the choice of B, the partition function of the 2d theories is [114]

$$Z_L(\Sigma_2, B) = \langle \mathcal{L}, B | A_{N-1} \rangle = \langle \mathcal{L}, 0 | \Phi(B) | A_{N-1} \rangle, \qquad (2.18)$$

with $B \in L^{\perp}$. By taking $B \in L$, one goes back to the definition in equation (2.11). Following the notation introduced in [114, 159, 164], we will denote the representative by B and the corresponding global variant by $T_{N,L}[M_4, B]$.



Figure 1. Compactification of 7d/6d coupled system on M_4 with maximal isotropic sublattice L lead to a 2d theory $T_N[M_4]$ on Σ_2 and its SymTFT on $\Sigma_2 \times I_{(0,\epsilon)}$ with topological boundary condition $\langle L(B) |$.

2.2 SymTFT of $T_N[M_4]$

Let $\{\zeta_i\}$ be a basis of $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z})$ with i = 1, 2, ..., r. Compactification of the 7d action (2.1) leads to the following action in 3d

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \sum_{i,j} Q^{ij} \int_{W_3} a_i \wedge da_j, \qquad (2.19)$$

where Q is the intersection form of M_4 and a_i are the 1-form gauge fields

$$a_i = \int_{\zeta_i} c, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, r.$$
 (2.20)

For rational complex surfaces M_4 , the classification of Q-matrices is well known. For each $r \neq 2$, the matrix Q has to be the diagonal matrix with signature (1, r - 1):

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & -1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.21)

For r = 2, we have

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.22}$$

if M_4 is a Hirzebruch surface \mathbb{F}_l with even l, and

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{2.23}$$

(or equivalently the diagonal matrix with signature (1, 1)) if M_4 is a Hirzebruch surface with odd l.

We next define the Chern-Simons level matrix

$$K^{i,j} \equiv NQ^{i,j}.\tag{2.24}$$



Figure 2. The 2d absolute theory is obtained by shrinking the interval.

K is an $r \times r$ symmetric matrix with integer entries where r is the rank of $H^2(M_4, \mathbb{Z})$. The 1-form defect group of the 3d theory (2.19) can be obtained by finding the Smith normal form of K, that is finding matrices $P, R \in SL(r, \mathbb{Z})$ such that

$$P^t K R = D, (2.25)$$

with D a diagonal matrix of the form

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} d_1 & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & d_n \end{pmatrix}, \tag{2.26}$$

with all elements $d_1, \ldots, d_n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then the defect group is determined to be

$$\mathscr{D} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \mathbb{Z}_{d_i}.$$
(2.27)

The line operators can be obtained from 7d by

$$L_{\vec{\alpha}} = e^{\frac{i2\pi}{N} \int_{\gamma \times M_2} c} = e^{\frac{i2\pi\vec{\alpha}}{N} \cdot \int_{\gamma} \vec{a}}$$
(2.28)

where $\vec{\alpha} = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_r)$ denotes the charge of the line defect. S- and T-matrices of the corresponding TQFT are given by

$$S(\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta}) \equiv \frac{B(\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta})}{\sqrt{|\mathscr{D}|}}, \quad T(\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta}) \equiv \theta_{\vec{\alpha}} e^{-2\pi i c/24} \delta_{\vec{\alpha}\vec{\beta}}, \tag{2.29}$$

where $\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta} \in \mathscr{D}$ are Anyons, $B(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta})$ is the braiding matrix

$$B(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta}) \equiv \exp\left[2\pi i \vec{\alpha}^t K^{-1} \vec{\beta}\right], \qquad (2.30)$$

and

$$\theta(\vec{\alpha}) \equiv \exp[2\pi i \vec{\alpha}^t K^{-1} \vec{\alpha}], \qquad (2.31)$$

are the topological spin of anyons $\vec{\alpha}$.

3d TQFT as SymTFT. Choosing a polarization L can be understood as putting the 3d TQFT on $\Sigma_2 \times I_{(0,\epsilon)}$. As shown in figure 1, the left boundary is the topological one specified by L and the right one is dynamical encoding the dynamics of $T_N[M_4]$. In fact, this 3d TQFT defines the SymTFT of $T_N[M_4]$. Given a topological boundary condition, the absolute theory is obtained by shrinking the interval in figure 2.

The SymTFT defines the 0-form symmetries of $T_N[M_4]$ denoted by a group G when it is invertible and by a fusion category C in the general setting. As studied in [100, 158, 170], the SymTFT is a Dijkgraaf-Witten (DW) theory [171] when the symmetries are invertible. However, for non-invertible symmetries, the SymTFT is the Turaev-Viro theory on C or equivalently the Reshetikhin-Turaev theory on the Drinfeld center Z(C).

Choice of polarization and topological boundary conditions. As observed in [164], the choice of maximal isotropic sublattices corresponds to the different topological boundary conditions in the 3d TQFT. Maximal isotropic sublattices L then correspond to those sublattices whose elements have trivial braiding with each other:

$$B(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta}) = 1 \quad \text{for} \quad \vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta} \in L.$$
(2.32)

As we have seen that different choices of L lead to different absolute theories of $T_N[M_4]$.

When we make a choice of a maximal isotropic sublattice L in $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$, then we are free to choose any element of $H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$. This allows us to specify line defects in the boundary theory along any direction in Σ_2 . This gives rise to an absolute theory on Σ_2 whose partition function with background fields $x \in H^1(\Sigma_2, L)$ we denote by $Z_{T_{N,L}[M_4]}[\Sigma_2; x]$. The corresponding wavefunctions in \mathcal{H}_L are then labeled by

$$|\Psi_L\rangle = \sum_{x \in H^1(\Sigma_2, L)} Z_L[\Sigma_2; x] |x\rangle, \qquad (2.33)$$

where we have abbreviated the partition function of the 2d theory with the choice of polarization L as $Z_L[\Sigma_2; x] \equiv Z_{T_L[M_4]}[\Sigma_2, x]$ with a background field $x \in H^1(\Sigma_2, L)$ turned on. Elements of L can then be viewed as discrete versions of x-coordinates while elements in L^{\perp} are discrete versions of p-coordinates. A *Dirichlet*-boundary condition then amounts to pairing $|\Psi_L\rangle$ with a coordinate-state $\langle D_X|$ given by

$$\langle D_X| = \sum_{x \in H^1(\Sigma_2, L)} \langle x|\delta(x - X), \qquad (2.34)$$

such that,

$$\langle D_X | \Psi_L \rangle = Z_L[\Sigma_2; X]. \tag{2.35}$$

A Neumann boundary condition then amounts to switching to momentum eigenstates $\langle N_P |$, where $P \in L^{\perp} \otimes H_1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z})$, given by

$$\langle N_P | = \frac{1}{|H^1(\Sigma_2, L)|} \sum_{x \in H^1(\Sigma_2, L)} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \langle x, P \rangle} \langle x |.$$
(2.36)

SPT phases. We can define Wilson surfaces in 6d which become line defects in the 2d theories we are after. We subdivide between two different types of Wilson surfaces, namely

$$\Phi_{i}(\gamma) \equiv \Phi(\gamma \times M_{2,i}) = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma \times M_{2,i}} c},$$

$$\widehat{\Phi}_{i}(\gamma) \equiv \Phi(\gamma \times \widehat{M}_{2,i}) = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma \times \widehat{M}_{2,i}} c},$$
(2.37)

where $M_{2,i} \in L$ and $\widehat{M}_{2,i} \in L^{\perp}$. The operators Φ_i do not change a given Dirichlet boundary condition, while the $\widehat{\Phi}_i$ act as *discrete translation* operators and create line defects on the boundary. But note that the $\widehat{\Phi}_i$ crucially depend on the choice of representative of elements in L^{\perp} . The choice of a different representative amounts to shifting

$$\widehat{M}_{2,i} \to \widehat{M}_{2,i} + \sum_{j} k_{ij} M_{2,j}, \quad k_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(2.38)

Using the quantum torus algebra (2.5), under the above shift one has,

$$\widehat{\Phi}_{i} \to \widehat{\Phi}_{i}^{\prime} = \Phi\left(\gamma_{i} \times \widehat{M}_{2,i} + \sum_{j} k_{ij} \gamma_{i} \times M_{2,j}\right) = e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \sum_{j} k_{ij} \langle \widehat{M}_{2,i}, M_{2,j} \rangle \int_{\Sigma_{2}} \frac{A_{i} \cup A_{i}}{2}} \widehat{\Phi}_{i}(\gamma_{i}) \times \prod_{j} \Phi_{j}(\gamma_{i})^{k_{ij}},$$
(2.39)

where A_i is the Poincare dual of γ_i . Similarly to [159], in a product $\prod_i \widehat{\Phi}'_i(\gamma_i)$ we can then first use the above splitting and then successively commute all Φ_j operators past the $\widehat{\Phi}_i$ operators and thus pick up an SPT phase,

$$\prod_{i} \widehat{\Phi}'_{i}(\gamma_{i}) = \exp\left[\frac{2\pi i}{N} \sum_{i,j} k_{ij} \langle \widehat{M}_{2,i}, M_{2,j} \rangle \int_{\Sigma_{2}} \left(\frac{A_{i} \cup A_{i}}{2} + A_{i} \cup A_{j}\right)\right] \prod_{i} \widehat{\Phi}_{i}(\gamma_{i}) . \quad (2.40)$$

where the factor $\frac{A_i \cup A_i}{2}$ can be understood as the possible quadratic refinement on Σ_2 .

Topological manipulations. Suppose the 2d absolute theories have a non-anomalous discrete symmetry G. There are three kinds of 2d topological manipulations that will transform between these theories. The first one is the gauging of subgroups $H \subset G$

$$Z_{\mathcal{T}/G}[A] \sim \sum Z_{\mathcal{T}}[a] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \langle a, A \rangle}, \qquad (2.41)$$

where a and A are background fields for H and \hat{H} where \hat{H} is the quantum symmetry after gauging, and $\langle a, A \rangle$ is the standard pairing on Σ_2 .

The second topological manipulation is stacking the theory with an SPT phase $v_2 \in H^2(G, U(1))$. When \mathcal{T} is spin, one can also stack the fermionic SPT phase [166], for example, the Arf invariant in 1+1 dimension. With these SPTs, we can have orbifolding a subgroup $H \subset G$

$$Z_{\mathcal{T}/v_2G}[A] \sim \sum Z_{\mathcal{T}}[a] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \langle a, A \rangle} \epsilon_{v_2} , \qquad (2.42)$$

where ϵ_{v_2} is the action of the SPT phase.

The third topological manipulation is the permutation of the symmetry lines in \mathcal{T} . Notice that this manipulation only changes the way how the symmetry is coupled to the background fields on Σ_2 and will not lead to new global variants of \mathcal{T} . We confirm this point by analyzing the topological defect lines in a theory with \mathbb{Z}_N symmetry in the next section.

The operations of gauging and stacking SPT phases and their composition are expected to generate all the global variants of \mathcal{T} . These global variants are closed under these topological manipulations. If one only considers the gauging operations, then these theories and the associated operations form the *orbifold groupoids* [166]. As we will see, these different global variants are different boundary conditions of the 3d SymTFT and the topological manipulations are determined by the automorphism group or (0-form symmetry) of the SymTFT.

Dualities from 4-manifold. In class S theory, the mapping class group of torus leads to the SL(2, \mathbb{Z}) Montonen–Olive duality [2, 172, 173]. The mapping class group of 4-manifold MCG(M_4) is given by²

$$P^t Q P = Q, \qquad P \in \operatorname{GL}(r, \mathbb{Z}),$$

$$(2.43)$$

where r is the rank of the intersection form Q. Similarly, we expect that $MCG(M_4)$ will give rise to Montonen–Olive-like dualities for 2d theories.

Global variants. The automorphism group or discrete 0-form symmetries of the 3d SymTFT denoted by $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ can be determined by

$$T^t QT = Q, \qquad T \in \operatorname{GL}(r, \mathbb{Z}_N),$$

$$(2.44)$$

where r is the rank of the intersection form Q. These elements in $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ transforming different absolute theories or global variants of $T_N[M_4]$ correspond to the 2d topological manipulations [166]. In particular, this group can be decomposed as

$$\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q) = \operatorname{Aut}(G) \times \mathcal{O}_N(Q) \tag{2.45}$$

where $\operatorname{Aut}(G)$ is the automorphism group of the symmetry of $T_4[M_4]$ that corresponds to permutations of the 2d symmetry lines while the group $\mathcal{O}_N(Q)$ corresponds to the different ways of gauging and stacking possible SPT phases, which give rise to different global variants of $T_N[M_4]$. Thus, the number of global variants is simply given by

$$d(N) = \frac{|\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)|}{|\operatorname{Aut}(G)|} = |\mathcal{O}_N(Q)|$$
(2.46)

There is a similar result for the class S theory [159].

One can associate each global variant with a matrix $M \in \mathcal{O}_N(Q)$. In fact, these matrix representations can also be obtained from the data of L and L^{\perp} . These matrices are closed under dualities and topological manipulations discussed above. The action of duality is from the left,

$$M \to F^t M, \qquad F \in \mathrm{MCG}(M_4), \qquad (2.47)$$

while a topological manipulation acts from the right,

$$M \to MG, \qquad G \in \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$$
. (2.48)

²It is called symplectic automorphism group in the mathematical literature.

The actions of dualities and topological manipulations on global variants of $T_N[M_4]$ will play an important role in realizing topological defects later.

Central charges. Under the Vafa-Witten twist [173], the 2d theory $T_G[M_4]$ is in general a $\mathcal{N} = (0,2)$ SCFT. The supersymmetry is enhanced to $\mathcal{N} = (0,4)$ when M_4 is Kähler. For 4-manifolds without torsional cycles, the central charge of $T_G[M_4]$ is given by [174]

$$c_{R} = \frac{3}{2}(\chi + \sigma)r_{G} + (2\chi + 3\sigma)d_{G}h_{G},$$

$$c_{L} = \chi r_{G} + (2\chi + 3\sigma)d_{G}h_{G},$$
(2.49)

In this work, we mainly focus on the 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ of type $G = A_{N-1}$, so $r_{A_{N-1}} = N - 1$, $d_{A_{N-1}} = N^2 - 1$ and $h_{A_{N-1}} = N$. When M_4 is Hirzebruch surfaces \mathbb{F}_l or the connected sum of them $(\mathbb{F}_l)^{\#^n}$, one has $\chi((\mathbb{F}_l)^{\#^n}) = 2n + 2$ and $\sigma((\mathbb{F}_l)^{\#^n}) = 0$. Thus, the central charges are

$$c_L = 3(n+1)(N-1) + 4(n+1)N(N^2-1), \quad c_R = 2(n+1)(N-1) + 4(n+1)N(N^2-1)$$
 (2.50)

For the del pezzo surface dP_l , one has $\chi(dP_l) = l + 3$ and $\sigma(dP_l) = 1 - l$. Thus, the central charges are

$$c_L = 6(N-1) + (9-l)N(N^2-1), \quad c_R = (l+3)(N-1) + (9-l)N(N^2-1)$$
 (2.51)

3 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$

In this section, we will study the theory from the compactification of the 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ theories of type A_{N-1} on $M_4 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. By choosing the maximal isotropic sublattice L, different absolute theories of $T_N[M_4]$ are obtained on the boundary of the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theories. Using this SymTFT, we will study their global variants (when SPT phases are considered), and analyze the symmetries and possible anomalies.

3.1 \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory

First, we will introduce the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory which is the 3d SymTFT of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The homology of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ is

$$H_*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \mathbb{Z}) = \{\mathbb{Z}, 0, \mathbb{Z}^2, 0, \mathbb{Z}\},\tag{3.1}$$

with intersection form

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.2}$$

Let b and f be a basis of $H_2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \mathbb{Z})$, with intersection numbers

$$b^2 = 0, \ f^2 = 0, \ b \cdot f = 1.$$
 (3.3)

By the equation (2.20), one can define the following two 1-form gauge fields,

$$a = \int_b c, \qquad \hat{a} = \int_f c \; .$$

Integrating over $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, the 3d action becomes

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int_{W_3} a \wedge d\hat{a} + \hat{a} \wedge da \qquad (3.4)$$
$$= \frac{2\pi}{N} \int_{W_3} a \cup \delta\hat{a} ,$$

where $W_3 = \Sigma_2 \times I_{[0,\varepsilon]}$ is a slab. Let x be the coordinate of the interval $I_{[0,\varepsilon]}$, then the two boundaries are located at $\Sigma_2|_{x=\varepsilon}$ and $\Sigma_2|_{x=0}$ corresponding to the topological and dynamical boundary, respectively. Notice that this Chern-Simons action has the form of a \mathbb{Z}_N discrete gauge theory. The gauge fields can also be written in terms of the \mathbb{Z}_N -valued 1-cochains as $a \to \frac{2\pi i}{N}a$.

The 3d \mathbb{Z}_N discrete gauge theory has line operators, which can be obtained from discrete Wilson surfaces as follows,

$$L_{(e,m)}(\gamma) = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma \times M_2} c\right) = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma} ea\right) \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma} m\hat{a}\right), \quad (3.5)$$

where $M_2 = eb + mf \in H_2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ and $(e, m) \in \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ are the electric/magenatic charges. The topological spin of the line operator is

$$\theta\left(L_{(e,m)}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{4\pi i}{N}em\right).$$
(3.6)

Notice that $L_{(1,0)}$ and $L_{(0,1)}$ together generate a $\mathbb{Z}_N^{(1)} \times \mathbb{Z}_N^{(1)}$ 1-form symmetry for the 3d SymTFT.

The fusion rule between two distinct line defects is given by

$$L_{(e,m)}(\gamma) \times L_{(e',m')}(\gamma) = L_{(e+e',m+m')}(\gamma) .$$
(3.7)

The braiding between them is

$$L_{(e,m)}(\gamma)L_{(e',m')}(\gamma') = \exp\left(-\frac{2\pi i}{N}(em' + me')\langle\gamma,\gamma'\rangle\right)L_{(e',m')}(\gamma')L_{(e,m)}(\gamma), \quad (3.8)$$

where $\langle \gamma, \gamma' \rangle$ represents the intersection number between γ and γ' on Σ_2 .

As shown in figure 2, to obtain an absolute 2d theory, one needs to specify a topological boundary condition in \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory and then shrink the slab. One can take the Dirichlet-boundary condition and half of the line operators will survive on the boundary generating a \mathbb{Z}_N 0-form symmetry for the 2d theory. One can also take other topological boundary conditions giving rise to different global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. As we will see later, these theories all have \mathbb{Z}_N 0-form symmetry and can be related to each other by topological manipulations.

In general, a \mathbb{Z}_N discrete gauge theory is the SymTFT for theories with invertible \mathbb{Z}_N symmetry with fusion category denoted by $\operatorname{Vec}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}$. One can see that, as the \mathbb{Z}_N discrete gauge theory has N^2 lines, while the fusion category $\operatorname{Vec}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}$ only admits N lines, the 3d SymTFT is the quantum double of the categorical symmetry in 2d.

3.2 Orbifold groupoid and global variants

In this subsection, we will study how many different absolute 2d theories can be obtained by choosing a suitable polarization on M_4 . The discrete isometry of M_4 usually leads to interesting operations on these absolute theories. These operations act on the polarizations and can transform these 2d absolute theories between each other. Our analysis using the polarization matches with the analysis from the 2d field theories. These different absolute theories can be related by gauging and stacking the SPT phase. We take N = 2, N = pprime numbers, N = 4 and N = 6 to illustrate our results.

Topological manupulations. Consider a 2d theory \mathcal{X} with an anomaly free \mathbb{Z}_N zeroform global symmetry on a closed two-dimensional spacetime Σ_2 . One can introduce two topological operations

• gauging 0-form symmetry \mathbb{Z}_N denoted by σ :

$$Z_{T_N[M_4]/\mathbb{Z}_N}[\Sigma_2, A] \sim \sum_{a \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)} Z_{T_N[M_4]}[\Sigma_2, a] e^{\frac{2\pi i}{N} \int_{\Sigma_2} aA},$$
(3.9)

where now $A \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_N)$ is the background field of the quantum symmetry $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_N$ after gauging.

• In our case, there is no bosonic SPT phase since $H^2(\mathbb{Z}_N, U(1)) = 0$. But, for fermionic theories, we can stack a fermionic SPT phase, i.e. Arf invariant [175, 176].

Duality. The automorphism group of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ is the matrix that preserves the quadratic form defined by Q with action on $H_2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \mathbb{Z})$. It turns out that these matrices are elements of the $MCG(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$, which is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2^2 given by

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad -I = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad -s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.10)

These matrices correspond to the switch of two \mathbb{P}^1 's and the flip of their orientation. The duality is generated by the element s.

For N = 2. As discussed in the previous section, to obtain absolute theories, one needs to specify a maximal isotropic sublattice $L \subset H_2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1, \mathbb{Z}_2) = (\mathbb{Z}_2)^2$, i.e. a 2 × 2 integral lattice. Besides L, the other piece of information is the choice of the elements in L^{\perp} , which determines the couplings of the background fields and possible stacking of the SPT phase.

With the inner product in equation (2.15), we find the following three maximal isotropic sub-lattices,

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0), (0,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0), (1,0)\} \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{2}$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0), (1,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{f}$$
(3.11)

Thus, we have three 2d absolute theories. As a theory on the topological boundary of \mathbb{Z}_2 discrete gauge theory, all these three theories have \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. We will label them by \mathbb{Z}_2 , $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2$, and \mathbb{Z}_2^f . The physical meaning of these notations will become clear later.



Figure 3. Orbifold groupoids for $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. The map g represents the topological manipulation gauging \mathbb{Z}_2 up to an SPT phase.

From the equation (2.44), the automorphism group is $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q) = S_3$, with generators

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tau = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

This automorphism group determines the 0-form symmetries of the SymTFT, which transform between different topological boundary conditions, or in other words, between different absolute theories by topological manipulations [164, 166].

We find $g \in S_3$ acts transitively on three maximal isotropic sublattices and transforms different absolute theories as in figure 3 with

$$g = \sigma \tau = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

This gives the orbifold groupoid for a fermionic theory with \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetries [166]. It implies that the theory $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ is fermionic.

For 2d fermionic theories with non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, up to SPT phases, there are indeed three absolute theories [175]. In particular, the theories \mathbb{Z}_2 and $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2$ are related by gauging with $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2$ being the quantum symmetry. The theory \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_2^f are related by fermionization/bosonization. Thus, with the help of SymTFT, we are able to determine the orbifold groupoid of $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ and the predictions are consistent with the field-theoretic analysis made in [166].

The maximal isotropic sublattice defines three absolute theories. To obtain the global variants of $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$, one needs also to specify the representatives in L^{\perp} . For example, consider the theory \mathbb{Z}_2 defined by L_1 . The complement of it is given by $L_1^{\perp} = H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_2)/L_1$, which contains two equivalent classes

$$[(0,0)] = \{(0,0), (0,1)\}, \qquad [(1,0)] = \{(1,0), (1,1)\},$$

The choice of representative in [(1,0)] determines the possible stacking of the SPT phase. As studied in [159], the choice of (1,0) implies that the theory does not stack an SPT phase denoted by $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_0$ while the choice of (1,1) means that the 2d theory is stacked with an SPT phase denoted by $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_1$. The choice of representative in L^{\perp} is denoted by B^L . Similarly, depending on whether an SPT phase is present, there are two global variants for each maximal isotropic sublattice. In the following, we label them using the subscript 0/1to denote if there are stacked SPT phases.



Figure 4. Web of transformations for $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

Thus, we find a total of 6 global variants for $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ specified by (L, B). As observed in [159], there is a prescription to assign the global variants to the matrix in the automorphism group as

$$M_{L,B} = (K_L, K_B), (3.12)$$

where K_L is a vector containing the lattice point generating the polarization L and K_B denotes the representative of the lattice point in L^{\perp} . In this way, one can associate each global form with a 2×2 matrix.

The automorphism groups $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q)$ and $\operatorname{MCG}(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ transform among these global variants, which correspond to perform the topological manipulations (σ, τ) and dualities s to these 2d theories. By the action from the equation (2.47) and (2.48), we find these global forms transform according to figure (4). As one can check this matches the field theoretical analysis in [175]. Thus, we have found all global variants of $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ and identified how they transform under topological manipulations and duality.

For N = p > 2. For prime number N = p > 2, there are two maximal isotropic sublattices

$$L_1 = \{(0,0), (1,0), \dots, (p-1,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_p$$

$$L_2 = \{(0,0), (0,1), \dots, (0,p-1)\} \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$$
(3.13)

which defines two absolute theories with \mathbb{Z}_p symmetry. We will denote them by \mathbb{Z}_p and $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ because as we will see that they are related by \mathbb{Z}_p gauging.

One can show that L_1 and L_2 are the only two maximal isotropic sublattices. Let's consider the sublattice generated by a lattice point (e, m) other than (0, 0) in \mathbb{Z}_p^2 . Thus, the sublattice contains points (e', m') satisfying (e', m') = k(e, m) with $k \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. The inner



Figure 5. Web of transformations for $T_p[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

product between these two points is

$$2kem = 0, \mod p. \tag{3.14}$$

For prime p, the only solution is either e = 0 or m = 0, which gives the two maximal isotropic sublattices L_1 and L_2 . One can also consider the sublattices generated by two or more linear independent points in \mathbb{Z}_p^2 . However, in this case, one always gets the full lattice, which is obviously not isotropic.

We find the automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(Q)$ is the Dihedral group $D_{2(p-1)}$ defined by

$$D_{2(p-1)} = \langle r, \sigma | r^{p-1} = \sigma^2 = (\sigma r)^2 = 1 \rangle$$
(3.15)

The order is 2(p-1) and the two generators are

$$r = \begin{pmatrix} r_1 & 0 \\ 0 & r_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where r_1 , r_2 are integers coprime to p and satisfy $r_1r_2 = 1$, mod p. According to equation (2.45), this group can be decomposed as

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_p) = \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} = \langle r \rangle, \qquad \mathcal{O}_p(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2 = \langle \sigma \rangle.$$
(3.16)

Here \mathbb{Z}_2 transforms between Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions in the bulk theory corresponding to performing \mathbb{Z}_p gauging to 2d theories. However, \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times} will not give new global variants. As we will see below, they correspond to different ways to turn on the background fields of the same global variant on Σ_2 .

Thus, there are two absolute theories and they transform into each other by gauging σ . Note that in this case, it is not possible to stack the Arf invariant as the generator τ which was present in the N = 2 case is missing for N = p > 2 and p prime, so we have only two global variants and we can assign two 2×2 matrices in $\langle \sigma \rangle$. Taking into account the duality s, we plot the orbifold groupoid and global variants in figure 5. This is consistent with the result in [166].

Topological defect lines. The automorphism group implies that there are actually 2(p-1) orbifolding theories from the 6d perspective. Indeed, from the 2d viewpoint, we have exactly 2(p-1) ways to orbifold a 2d theory with \mathbb{Z}_p symmetries, once we turn on the background gauge field for the \mathbb{Z}_p symmetries, and the $D_{2(p-1)}$ automorphism group

will be faithfully manifest. This point can be verified at the level of partition functions on the torus. Recall that, for a 2d CFT denoted as Z_p , the \mathbb{Z}_p symmetries are identical to pdifferent topological defect lines (TDLs). We can put these TDLs along either temporal or spatial directions, and thus overall there are p^2 numbers of defect partition functions denoted by $Z_p(a_1, a_2)$, where $a_i \in \mathbb{Z}_p$ are holonomies with respect to \mathbb{Z}_p along two cycles of the torus, and label the different types of TDLs. For a given theory Z_p , we have a collection of partition functions dressed with these TDLs as $\{Z_p(a_1, a_2)\}_{a_i \in \mathbb{Z}_p}$. Now having Z_p at hand, we spell out the orbifolding theories as

$$\hat{Z}_{p}^{k}(b_{1},b_{2}) = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{a_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}} Z_{p}(a_{1},a_{2}) \,\omega_{p,k}^{a_{1}b_{2}-a_{2}b_{1}}, \quad \text{or} \quad Z_{p}(a_{1},a_{2}) = \frac{1}{p} \sum_{b_{i} \in \mathbb{Z}_{p}} \hat{Z}_{p}^{k}(b_{1},b_{2}) \,\omega_{p,k}^{b_{1}a_{2}-b_{2}a_{1}},$$

$$(3.17)$$

where the b_i label the types of TDLs with respect to the quantum symmetries $\hat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ in \hat{Z}_p , and

$$\omega_{p,k} \equiv e^{\frac{2\pi i k}{p}}, \quad \text{with} \quad 1 \le k < p.$$
(3.18)

Therefore, starting from Z_p , one has (p-1)-ways to orbifold it, denoted by \hat{Z}_p^k with a collection of $\left\{\hat{Z}_p^k(a_1, a_2)\right\}_{a_i \in \hat{\mathbb{Z}}_p}$ defect partition functions. One can continue this operation from one of the resulted p-1 orbifolding theories, say for example \hat{Z}_p^1 . But notice that now there are only (p-2)-ways to obtain new orbifolding theories from it, as one way will transform \hat{Z}_p^1 back to Z_p from (3.17). Overall, there are

$$N_p = 1 + (p-1) + (p-2) = 2(p-1)$$
(3.19)

orbifolding theories corresponding to the group elements in $D_{2(p-1)}$. It is not hard to show that there are no more new orbifolding theories apart from the N_p ones obtained this way.

For example, in the case of p = 3, we have 4 orbifolding theories given below



where the red, blue, and orange lines denote the orbifolding with respect to $\omega_{3,1}$, $\omega_{3,2}$ and the charge conjugation operation C,

$$\mathcal{C}: \quad Z_p(a_1, a_2) \longrightarrow Z_p(-a_1, -a_2). \tag{3.21}$$

One can honestly check that

$$Z_3(a_1, a_2) = \left(\widehat{Z}_3^2\right)^1 \left(-a_1, -a_2\right), \quad \text{and} \quad \widehat{Z}_3^2(a_1, a_2) = \widehat{Z}_3^1(-a_1, -a_2).$$
(3.22)

Therefore, together with the identity operation, $\{1, \omega_{3,1}, \omega_{3,2}, \mathcal{C}\}$ are precisely identified with the automorphism group $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ for p = 3.

Below, we also draw the diagram of the orbifolding theories for p = 5, as elements of the first non-abelian group D_8 ,



where the 8 vertices denote the 8 orbifolding theories, and the red, blue, purple, green and orange lines represent the orbifolding action with respect to $\omega_{5,1}$, $\omega_{5,2}$, $\omega_{5,3}$, $\omega_{5,4}$ and charge conjugation C defined in (3.21). Following the orbifolding trajectories in (3.23), one can convince oneself that $\omega_{5,1}$ and $\omega_{5,2}$ generate the whole diagram and satisfy the following relations,

$$\omega_{5,1}^2 = \omega_{5,2}^2 = (\omega_{5,1} \cdot \omega_{5,2})^4 = 1.$$
(3.24)

Therefore, one can identify the orbifolding groupoid as

$$D_8 = \left\langle r = \omega_{5,1} \cdot \omega_{5,2}, \, s = \omega_{5,1} \, | \, r^4 = s^2 = (rs)^2 = 1 \right\rangle \,. \tag{3.25}$$

The above groupoid structure can be easily generalized to a bitrary odd prime number p, which is generated by

$$D_{2(p-1)} = \left\langle r = \omega_{5,1} \cdot \omega_{5,2}, \, s = \omega_{5,1} | \, r^{p-1} = s^2 = (rs)^2 = 1 \right\rangle \,. \tag{3.26}$$

Once we turn off the background gauge field, the above diagram collapses back to figure 5 corresponding the \mathbb{Z}_2 automorphism subgroup as discussed before. It simply implies that the p-1 different way of orbifolding just give the same orbifolded theory up to the automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_p) = \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$.



Figure 6. Orbifold groupoids for $T_4[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. The map σ_4 represents the topological manipulation gauging \mathbb{Z}_4 and f is the gauging \mathbb{Z}_2 up to an SPT phase.

For N = 4. We find the following 5 maximal isotropic sublattices

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0), (0,1), (0,2), (0,3)\} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{4}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0), (1,0), (2,0), (3,0)\} \rightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{4}$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (2,1), (2,3)\} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{4}^{f}$$

$$L_{4} = \{(0,0), (2,0), (1,2), (3,2)\} \rightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{4}^{f}$$

$$L_{5} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (2,0), (2,2)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{2})_{\mu_{3}}$$
(3.27)

It implies that we have 5 different absolute theories. We will label them with their symmetries and possible anomalies. The first four theories have \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry while the last one has anomalous $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2$ and will be discussed later.

The \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry is defined by the non-trivial extension of \mathbb{Z}_2 by \mathbb{Z}_2

$$1 \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \to \mathbb{Z}_4 \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \to 1 . \tag{3.28}$$

This central extension is determined by the cohomology classes $\kappa \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}_2) = \mathbb{Z}_2$. When κ is non-trivial, the extension gives \mathbb{Z}_4 . Gauging \mathbb{Z}_4 , one obtains another absolute theory with quantum symmetry given by

$$1 \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2 \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4 \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2 \to 1 \tag{3.29}$$

Besides that, since \mathbb{Z}_4 has a subgroup \mathbb{Z}_2 , one can gauge \mathbb{Z}_4 with an Arf invariant stacked. In this way, one obtains a fermionic theory with symmetry

$$1 \to \mathbb{Z}_2^f \to \mathbb{Z}_4^f \to \mathbb{Z}_2 \to 1 \tag{3.30}$$

where $\mathbb{Z}_2 = (-1)^F$. Similarly, one can gauge $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4$ with an Arf invariant and the theory so obtained is also fermionic with symmetry

$$1 \to \mathbb{Z}_2^f \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4^f \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2 \to 1 \tag{3.31}$$

We label the first four absolute theories using the symmetries defined above.



Figure 7. Web of transformations for $T_4[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

The automorphism group is $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_4}(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2 \times D_8$ with $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_4) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ and $\mathcal{O}_4(Q) = D_8$. Here, \mathbb{Z}_2 represents different ways to turn on the background fields on Σ_2 while D_8 is generated by

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tau = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and transforms different maximal isotropic sublattices into each other which represents 2d topological manipulations.

In particular, with σ and $f = \tau \sigma \tau$, we find these theories transform according to figure 6. As we can observe, L_5 is a singlet with respect to D_8 , while the square, which consists of the remaining set $\{L_1, L_2, L_3, L_4\}$, furnishes a two-dimensional irreducible rep. of D_8 . Note that $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_4}(Q)$ only contains the operation of gauging \mathbb{Z}_4 , not \mathbb{Z}_2 , so the theory specified by L_5 is isolated and cannot be related with other theories by topological manipulations defined by $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_4}(Q)$. Besides that, our result reproduces the orbifold groupoid for the theory with non-anomalous \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry studied in [166].

Now, let's take into account the SPT phase for each of these theories. Thus, for theories with \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry, there are 8 global variants, which can be transformed to each other by two basic topological manipulations, \mathbb{Z}_4 gauging σ and stacking Arf invariant τ . Following the same logic, one can assign each global variant with a 2 × 2 D_8 matrix M. Then, one can study how they transform under the topological operations σ and τ , and duality s. The result is plotted in figure 7.

Mixed anomaly. There is one more absolute theory described by L_5 . It can be obtained from the \mathbb{Z}_4 ($\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4$) theory by \mathbb{Z}_2 ($\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2$) gauging. Since the extension class is non-trivial, it has anomalous $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry with mixed anomaly given by [86]

$$\mu_3 = \int_{W_3} \widehat{A} \cup \kappa(A) \,, \tag{3.32}$$

where $\widehat{A} \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_2)$ and $A \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_2)$ are the background connections of \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_2 respectively, and κ is the extension class.

This anomaly can be detected from the 3d SymTFT. For the topological boundary condition specified by L_5 , the terminal lines are $\{L_{(0,0)}, L_{(0,2)}, L_{(2,0)}, L_{(2,2)}\}$. The non-terminal lines are given by the equivalence classes in L_5^{\pm} ,

$$B_{1} = \{L_{(0,0)}, L_{(0,2)}, L_{(2,0)}, L_{(2,2)}\},\$$

$$B_{2} = \{L_{(0,1)}, L_{(0,3)}, L_{(2,1)}, L_{(2,3)}\},\$$

$$B_{3} = \{L_{(1,0)}, L_{(3,0)}, L_{(1,2)}, L_{(3,2)}\},\$$

$$B_{4} = \{L_{(1,1)}, L_{(1,3)}, L_{(3,1)}, L_{(3,3)}\}.\$$
(3.33)

After computing the braiding of lines from B_2 and B_3 , we find all choices of lines have non-trivial braiding. This implies a mixed anomaly between $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ [160].

For N = 6. There are 6 maximal isotropic sublattices

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0), (0,1), (0,2), (0,3), (0,4), (0,5)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{++} = \mathbb{Z}_{3} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0), (2,0), (4,0), (0,3), (2,3), (4,3)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{-+} = \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{3} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (0,4), (3,0), (3,2), (3,4)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{+-} = \mathbb{Z}_{3} \times \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{2}$$

$$L_{4} = \{(0,0), (1,0), (2,0), (3,0), (4,0), (5,0)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{--} = \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{3} \times \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{2}$$

$$L_{5} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (0,4), (3,1), (3,3), (3,5)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{+f} = \mathbb{Z}_{3} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{f}$$

$$L_{6} = \{(0,0), (2,0), (4,0), (1,3), (3,3), (5,3)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{6})_{-f} = \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{3} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{f}$$
(3.34)

These maximal isotropic sublattices define six absolute theories with \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry. Since $\mathbb{Z}_6 = \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_3$, we can also label them using their subgroups. These absolute theories look like the tensor product of absolute theories for N = 2 and N = 3. Depending on the different behavior of the \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_3 factors, one has 6 absolute theories denoted by $(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm,\pm/f}$, where +/- represents whether a subgroup is gauged or not and f means whether one has performed the fermionization operation on the \mathbb{Z}_2 factor.

The automorphism group is $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_6}(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2^2 \times S_3$, where $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_6) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ accounts for different ways to couple the background fields and $\mathcal{O}_6(Q) = S_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ transforms between different theories and encodes the possible 2d topological manipulations. The topological manipulations for a theory with \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry can be understood through the manipulations on its subgroups \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_3 . The generators of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_6}(Q)$ are

$$\sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 4 & 3 \\ 3 & 4 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.35)$$

where σ_3/σ_2 denote gauging of $\mathbb{Z}_3/\mathbb{Z}_2$ and τ is denotes stacking the Arf invariant. With σ_3 and $\tilde{\sigma}_2 = \tau \sigma_2$, one can obtain the orbifold groupoid in figure 8, which can be identified by the tensor product of the orbifold groupoid of \mathbb{Z}_2 and \mathbb{Z}_3 in figure 3 and figure 5.

Consider the possible stacking of the Arf invariant. We have 12 global variants. By the same procedure, one can associate each of them with a $\mathcal{O}_6(Q)$ matrix. Using the



Figure 8. Orbifold groupoids for $T_6[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ with \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. The map σ_3 represents the topological manipulation gauging \mathbb{Z}_3 and $\tilde{\sigma}_2$ is the gauging \mathbb{Z}_2 up to an SPT phase.

representation of topological manipulations in (3.35) and duality operation in (3.10), one can study the transformation among these global variants. The result is plotted in figure 9. We find that the topological manipulations drawn in blue are simply the direct product of the diagram for \mathbb{Z}_2 in figure 4 and \mathbb{Z}_3 in figure 5. This diagram can be simplified by combining the operation of σ_3 and σ_2 which defines a \mathbb{Z}_6 gauging below

$$\sigma = \sigma_3 \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{3.36}$$

The diagram of the global variants plotted using σ and τ is in figure 10.

For general N. Using the SymTFT, we are able to study the global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ for general N. The possible topological manipulations are determined by the automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)/\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_N)$, where $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_N) = \mathbb{Z}_{\phi(N)}$ and $\phi(N)$ is the Euler's totient function. These topological manipulations act transitively on the global variants. The number of global variants is

$$d(N) = |\mathcal{O}_N(Q)| . \tag{3.37}$$

Assigning each global variant to a $\mathcal{O}_N(Q)$ matrix, we can determine how they transform under the topological manipulations.

The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ plays an important role in determining the global variants, and topological manipulations. Besides that, it also gives the 0-form symmetry of the SymTFT, in our case, a \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. We compute $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ for $N = 2, 3 \dots 20$, and identify them with finite groups in table 1. Note that, for odd N, our results match with the 0-form symmetry for the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory studied in [167]. However, for even N, the 0-form symmetries from [167] are subgroups of our result because the SymTFT from the compactification on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ is a spin DW theory admitting also fermionic topological



Figure 9. Web of transformations for $T_6[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

Table 1. The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ up to N = 20.

boundary conditions [166]. It is noted that, when N = pq with gcd(p,q) = 1, $Aut_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ can be factorized as direct product of $Aut_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(Q)$ and $Aut_{\mathbb{Z}_q}(Q)$.

Geometric perspective. From the point of view of the 7d symTFT, the different choices of the maximal isotropic sublattice L and L^{\perp} are equivalent to the choice of handlebody of M_5 with $\partial M_5 = M_4$ [159, 164]. Similar to the solid tori, handlebodies in five dimensions are characterized by a "meridian" and a "longitude," which are a set of assignments of cycles in $H_2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$. The meridian extends to contractible cycles in $H_2(M_5, \mathbb{Z}_N)$, while the longitude extends to non-contractible cycles.

In our case, we will find the handlebodies for $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. The number of handlebodies depends on the parameter N. For example, for N = 2, we find the following three geometries



Figure 10. Web of transformations for $T_6[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

with $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ on the boundary

$$M_5^{(1)} = D^3 \times S^2, \quad M_5^{(2)} = S^2 \times D^3, \quad M_5^{(3)} = S^2 \times S^2 \times \mathbb{R} .$$
 (3.38)

which is equivalent to the three choices of maximal isotropic sublattice. For each of the above manifolds, one has two ways to choose longitude. In total, one can define 6 handlebodies. However, for prime N larger than 2, by the same argument discussed in (3.14) one cannot extend the (1, 1) cycle into a contractible cycle in M_5 . Thus, only the first two manifolds are valid. Thus, one has two handlebodies in this case.

In this subsection, we studied the orbifold groupoid and global variants of the 2d theories from the warping of N M5-brane on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. For the cases of prime N, we identify all global variants and possible topological manipulations. We also discuss how to generalize the result to the case when N = pq is not prime, but a product of two primes p and q using two examples N = 4 for p, q are not coprime and N = 6 for p, q are coprime. In general, given the prime factorization of N, we can apply the method discussed here recursively and find all global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. Finally, we identify the 0-form symmetries of spin \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theories up to N = 20 from the perspective of geometry.



Figure 11. At R = 1, the \mathbb{Z}_p theory has a non-invertible defect $N = \sigma s$. The coupling constant R is included explicitly for each theory.

3.3 Duality defects

In this subsection, we will study the non-invertible symmetries of the theory $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. Similar to the class S theories in 4d [159], the non-invertible symmetries can be realized by the combinations of topological manipulations and dualities at the special point in the conformal manifold. With the understanding of global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ and their transformation properties studied in the previous subsection, we construct duality defects for the theories with prime N and N = 4, 6. Besides that for N = 2, there exist global variants with mixed anomaly between invertible symmetries. After gauging one of them, we find the same duality defect using the half-space gauging construction [104]. Finally, we discussed how these defects are realized in the compactification of the 3d SymTFT.

Couplings and fixed points. In the compactification of M5-branes on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, the resulting 2d theory is a supersymmetric sigma model with target space the moduli space of magnetic monopoles [57, 177, 178]. The target space contains a U(1) isometry which for one M5-brane can be identified with a compact boson with radius R, where R depends on the conformal structure of the 4-manifold and describes the ratio of the sizes of the two \mathbb{P}^1 's [57]. For the compactification of N M5-branes on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, we expect the same coupling in the 2d theory $T_N[M_4]$. From the equation (3.10), the duality map changes the coupling constant into

$$R \xrightarrow{-I} R$$
, $R \xrightarrow{s} \frac{1}{R}$.

As we will see later, the subgroup \mathbb{Z}_2 generated by s will also be a subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$, which will lead to duality defects for theories $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ at R = 1.

The non-invertible defects can be realized as the combinations of the topological operations $G(\sigma, \tau)$, the gauging σ and stacking SPT phase τ , and the duality F from the automorphism group MCG($\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$). In general, these operations will change the 2d global variant and the coupling R. To realize defects in 2d theories, one needs to find a set of $G(\sigma, \tau)$ and F operations such that their combination keeps the global variant and coupling invariant. Note that only the duality operation F will change the coupling R. Thus, to guarantee that the coupling R stays the same after acting with F, one needs to take R to be the fixed point of it. In our case, the only non-trivial duality operation is F = s with a fixed point at R = 1. We will implicitly take R = 1 in the remainder of this section.

Ν	Theory	Defects
2	$(\mathbb{Z}_2)_m, (\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_2)_m$	$ au^m \sigma s au^m$
2	$(\mathbb{Z}_2^f)_m$	$\tau^m \tau s \tau^m$
р	$\mathbb{Z}_p, \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$	σs
4	$(\mathbb{Z}_4)_m, (\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4)_m, (\mathbb{Z}_4^f)_m, (\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_4^f)_m$	$ au^m \sigma s au^m$
6	$(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm\pm m}$	$ au^m \sigma s au^m$
6	$(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm fm}$	$\sigma \tau \sigma \tau \sigma s$

Table 2. Duality defects of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ at R = 1.

Next, we need to find some topological manipulation $G(\sigma, \tau)$ which can undo the action of F = s and map the global variant to itself. More precisely, given a distinct 2d global variant labeled by M, one needs to find a pair of F and $G(\sigma, \tau)$ satisfying the following conditions,

$$F^t MG = M,$$
 $F \in MCG(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1), \quad G(\sigma, \tau) \in Aut_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q).$ (3.39)

This way one can realize a defect $\mathcal{N} = FG$ in a theory labeled by M. In this way, we analyze all possible defects in global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ for N = prime, N = 4, and N = 6. The result is in table 2. Notice that except for the theory $(\mathbb{Z}_2^f)_m$, the defects realized using F = s involve the gauging operation and thus could be non-invertible.

To study their invertibility, one needs to calculate the fusion among the defects and other invertible lines in the theory $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. When N is prime, the defect only involves a single gauging operation σ . The fusion rule of these defects have been studied in [158] and they are given by

$$\eta^{N} = 1, \quad \eta \times \mathcal{N} = \mathcal{N}, \quad \overline{\mathcal{N}} \sim \mathcal{N}, \quad \mathcal{N} \times \overline{\mathcal{N}} = \sum \eta(\gamma),$$
 (3.40)

where η is the line generating the \mathbb{Z}_N symmetry, $\overline{\mathcal{N}}$ is the orientation reversal of \mathcal{N} and $\gamma \in H_1(M_1, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ is a 1-cycle of Σ_2 . These are the same as the fusion rules of the Tambara-Yamagami fusion categories $TY(\mathbb{Z}_N)$.

When N is not prime, the theories $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ have more global forms and in general admits more duality defects. For example, there are 12 global forms for $T_6[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. Eight of them, i.e. $(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm\pm m}$, have defects $\tau^m \sigma s \tau^m$. Since it involves only one operation of gauging \mathbb{Z}_6 , according to the fusion rule in (3.40), they are non-invertible and form the Tambara-Yamagami fusion categories $TY(\mathbb{Z}_6)$.

For global forms $(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm fm}$, the defect is $\sigma\tau\sigma\tau\sigma s$ involving 3 operations of gauging \mathbb{Z}_6 . From the web of global forms in figure 9 and 10, one can show this defect is equivalent to $\sigma_3\tau$ where σ_3 is the operation of gauging the \mathbb{Z}_3 subgroup of \mathbb{Z}_6 . The fusion rule of $\sigma_3\tau$, i.e. $\sigma\tau\sigma\tau\sigma s$ is again given by the equation (3.40), but with η generating \mathbb{Z}_3 invertible lines. The symmetry category for global forms $(\mathbb{Z}_6)_{\pm fm}$ thus decomposes as $TY(\mathbb{Z}_3) \times \mathbb{Z}_2$.

Besides that for the theory of $(\mathbb{Z}_2^f)_m$, one can identify a defect composed of stacking SPT phase τ and duality s at R = 1. Since it does not involve the gauging operation, it

implements an \mathbb{Z}_2 invertible symmetry. As we will see in the following, this \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is anomalous having a mixed anomaly with \mathbb{Z}_2^f . After gauging \mathbb{Z}_2^f , the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry becomes non-invertible, and the associated duality defect is given by $\tau \sigma \tau s$ [104]. This duality defect can be identified in figure 4. After gauging σ , the theory becomes $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_1$ and indeed one can find this duality defect from table 2.

A typical example of this phenomenon can be seen in the well-known Ising model and its fermionization. The non-invertible duality defect \mathcal{N} in Ising after fermionization turns out to be the $(-1)^{F_L}$ which is invertible but has a non-trivial 't Hooft anomaly with fermionic parity $(-1)^F$ [179]. On the other hand, gauging $(-1)^F$ gives back the Ising model and $(-1)^{F_L}$ is mapped back to the non-invertible \mathcal{N} line correspondingly as a reminiscent of the 't Hooft anomaly.

Since the duality defects found in theories $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_m$ and $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_m$ can be related to the anomalous invertible symmetry in $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_m^f$ by either dualities or topological manipulations, they are non-intrinsic non-invertible [104, 110, 158]. While the duality defects realized in global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$ with N > 2 are not connected to any invertible symmetries, thus they are intrinsic non-invertible.

Mixed anomaly. Given a choice of maximal isotropic sublattice L, the 2d absolute theory can have enhanced 0-form symmetry $G' \subset MCG(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ if for any element $g \in G'$, one has

$$g(M_4) = M_4, \qquad g(\mathcal{L}) = \mathcal{L}, \tag{3.41}$$

where $\mathcal{L} = L \otimes H^1(\Sigma_2, D)$. Thus, the partition function $Z_{g(M_4),g(L)}(\Sigma_2, 0)$ is invariant under the transformation g. From the analysis in equation (3.10), the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup generated by reversing orientation is always a symmetry for any absolute theory, while for the other \mathbb{Z}_2 generated by s, it depends on the number of M5-branes N and the choice of the maximal isotropic sublattice.

If there is a mixed anomaly between G' and \mathbb{Z}_N , then one can obtain the non-invertible defect by gauging \mathbb{Z}_N [104]. In our case, we can identify this mixed anomaly from the choice of L and L^{\perp} [114]. Given a 2d global variant specified by $L \otimes v \subset \mathcal{L}$ and $\beta \otimes v \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ with $\beta \in L^{\perp}$ and $v \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ is a \mathbb{Z}_N cocycle on Σ_2 . Although L is invariant under symmetry $g \in G$, the choice $g(\beta \otimes v)$ is not necessarily an element of \mathcal{L}^{\perp} . In general, it can be written as $g(\beta \otimes v) = \beta \otimes v + \alpha \otimes v$ with $\alpha \otimes v \in \mathcal{L}$. There will be a mixed anomaly between G' and \mathbb{Z}_N if the following condition holds [159]

$$e^{\frac{i}{2}\langle \alpha \otimes v, \beta \otimes v \rangle} \neq 1. \tag{3.42}$$

As we will see in the following, one can find such mixed anomalies in the 2d absolute theories.

We will derive the mixed anomaly between the duality transformation s and \mathbb{Z}_2^f in the theory $(\mathbb{Z}_2^f)_0$ from the partition function. For example, consider the absolute theory $(\mathbb{Z}_2^f)_0$ defined by L_3 in equation (3.11) with generator $\alpha = (1, 1)$ and $\beta = (0, 1)$. In terms of the cycles in $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, let's denote them by $\alpha = b + f$ and $\beta = b$. Obviously, L_3 is invariant under transformation $s \in \mathrm{MCG}(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ so as α , but the L^{\perp} part β is not invariant under

s, but transform as s(b) = f. By direct calculation, one can show

$$Z_{s(L_3)}(\Sigma_2, s(b \otimes v), s(R)) = \langle \mathcal{L}_3, f \otimes v | Z \rangle$$

$$= \langle \mathcal{L}_3, f + (b + f) \otimes v | Z \rangle$$

$$= \langle \mathcal{L}_3, 0 | e^{\frac{i}{2} \langle f \otimes v, b \otimes v + f \otimes v \rangle} \Phi(b \otimes v) | Z \rangle$$

$$= e^{\frac{i}{2} \langle f \otimes v, b \otimes v \rangle} Z_{L_3} \left(\Sigma_2, f, \frac{1}{R} \right)$$

$$= e^{i\pi \operatorname{Arf}(v)} Z_{L_3} \left(\Sigma_2, \frac{1}{R}, g \right)$$
(3.43)

where we have used that $\operatorname{Arf}(v_1+v_2)+\operatorname{Arf}(v_1)+\operatorname{Arf}(v_2) = \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle$ with $v_1, v_2 \in H^1(\Sigma_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)$. As shown in [104], at the fixed point R = 1, this is the anomaly required to realize the duality defect by gauging \mathbb{Z}_2^f .

Duality defects from SymTFT. The duality defects constructed above can also be realized in the SymTFT. In general, a subgroup $F \subset MCG(M_4)$ induces a domain wall in the SymTFT with non-trivial action on the anyons as $L_{\vec{\alpha}} \to L_{F^t\vec{\alpha}}$ where $\vec{\alpha}$ represents the charge of L. The associated condensation defect is defined by [106, 109, 180]

$$\mathcal{C}_F(M_2) \sim \sum_{\gamma \in H_1(M_2, \mathbb{Z}_N)} L_{(\mathbb{I}_r - F^T)\vec{\alpha}}(\gamma)$$
(3.44)

which is realized geometrically as a surgery defect [159]. A twist defect $T_F(M_2, M_1)$ is obtained by condensing $L_{(\mathbb{I}_r - F^t)\vec{\alpha}}$ on $\mathcal{C}_F(M_2)$ through $\partial M_2 = M_1$ with Dirichlet boundary condition. As studied in [158], after gauging F in the SymTFT and shrinking the slab, these twist defects become the |F|-ality defect.³ In our case, $F = \langle s \rangle \subset \mathrm{MCG}(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ corresponds to the electro-magnetic duality of \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory, which will give rise to the duality defect obtained in this section after gauging \mathbb{Z}_2 and shrinking the interval in the SymTFT.

3.4 Connected sum of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$

We will extend the previous analysis to the connect sum of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$. The SymTFT in this case is the $\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ gauge theory, which have very rich structure on the global variants, symmetries and anomalies. Note that $(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1) # (\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ does not have complex structure and will be treated as a real 4-manifold.

 $\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ gauge theory. The intersection form of $\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ is

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.45)

³Precisely, this is defined when F is a cyclic group.

Let b_i and f_i with i = 1, 2 be a basis of $H_2(\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1), \mathbb{Z})$. After compactifying the 7d TQFT on it, the 3d SymTFT is

$$S_{3d} = \frac{2\pi}{N} \int_{W_3} a_1 \cup \delta \hat{a}_1 + a_2 \cup \delta \hat{a}_2 , \qquad (3.46)$$

where $a_i = \int_{b_i} c$ and $\hat{a}_i = \int_{f_i} c$ are \mathbb{Z}_N cocycles on W_3 . The defect group

$$\mathscr{D} = \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N \tag{3.47}$$

This is the $\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ gauge theory that will be the SymTFT for 2d theories with $\mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$ symmetries.

Duality. The mapping class group of $MCG(\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1))$ is an infinite group with the following generators

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad D = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad W = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.48)

The element P of mapping class group acts on the 2-cycle (Poincaré dual to the 2-form in $\Omega^2(M_4)$)

$$J = xb_1 + yf_1 + zb_2 + wf_2 = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ z \\ w \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.49)

as $J \to PJ$. The volume of 2-cycles are

$$V_{b_1} = J \cdot b_1 = y$$

$$V_{f_1} = J \cdot f_1 = x$$

$$V_{b_2} = J \cdot b_2 = w$$

$$V_{f_2} = J \cdot f_2 = z$$
(3.50)

The volume of $\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$ is invariant under the action of P:

$$V_{\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)} = \frac{1}{2} J \cdot J = xy + zw.$$
(3.51)

We introduce three geometric parameters

$$R_1 = \frac{x}{y} = \frac{V_{f_1}}{V_{b_1}}, \ R_2 = \frac{z}{w} = \frac{V_{f_2}}{V_{b_2}}, \ R_3 = \frac{y}{z} = \frac{V_{b_1}}{V_{f_2}}.$$
(3.52)

The MCG($\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)$) generators acting non-trivially on these parameters are

$$S \cdot R_{1} = R_{1}, \qquad S \cdot R_{2} = \frac{1}{R_{2}}, \qquad S \cdot R_{3} = R_{2}R_{3}$$

$$D \cdot R_{1} = R_{2}, \qquad D \cdot R_{2} = R_{1}, \qquad D \cdot R_{3} = \frac{1}{R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}}$$

$$T \cdot R_{1} = \frac{R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}}{R_{2}R_{3} - 1}, \qquad T \cdot R_{2} = R_{2} + R_{1}R_{2}R_{3}, \qquad T \cdot R_{3} = \frac{1 - R_{2}R_{3}}{R_{1}R_{2}R_{3} + R_{2}}$$

$$W \cdot R_{1} = R_{1}, \qquad W \cdot R_{2} = R_{2}, \qquad W \cdot R_{3} = -R_{3}.$$
(3.53)

Let us discuss the finite subgroups of $MCG(\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1))$. First, let's consider \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroups generated by one of the generators in (3.48). The fixed points of the coupling constants are

$$S: (R_1, 1, R_3), \quad D: \left(R_1, \frac{1}{R_1}, \pm 1\right), \quad T: \left(0, R_2, \frac{1}{2R_2}\right), \quad W: (R_1, R_2, 0)$$
(3.54)

which depending on arbitrary parameters define the extended loci in the conformal manifold. When the couplings are taken to be

$$(R_1, R_2, R_3) = (1, 1, \pm 1).$$
(3.55)

The symmetry generated by S and D is enhanced to D_8 and one can realize more interesting defects at this coupling. One can consider more general subgroups of $MCG(\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1))$ and find more fixed points of these couplings on the conformal manifold.

N=2. We find that the maximal isotropic sublattice are given by

$$\begin{split} &L_1 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,0,1), (0,1,0,0), (0,1,0,1)\} \\ &L_2 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,0,1), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1)\} \\ &L_3 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,0,1), (1,1,0,0), (1,1,0,1)\} \\ &L_4 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,0), (0,1,0,0), (0,1,1,0)\} \\ &L_5 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,0), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,1,0)\} \\ &L_6 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,1), (0,1,0,0), (1,1,1,0)\} \\ &L_7 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,1), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,1,1)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,1), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,1,1)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,1), (1,0,0), (1,1,1,1)\} \\ &L_{10} = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,0,1), (1,0,1,0), (1,1,1,1)\} \\ &L_{11} = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,1,0), (1,0,0,1), (1,1,1,0)\} \\ &L_{12} = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,1,0), (1,0,0,1), (1,1,1,0)\} \\ &L_{14} = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,1,1), (1,0,0,1), (1,1,0,1)\} \\ &L_{15} = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,1,1), (1,0,0), (1,1,0,1)\} \end{split}$$

Thus, there are 15 absolute theories on the boundary with $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ symmetry. These theories are transformed into each other by different ways of gauging subgroups in $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ forming the orbifold groupoid [166]. For example, there are three ways to gauge a single \mathbb{Z}_2 by gauging the first one, the second one or the diagonal one. One can also gauge the full $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ with or without the SPT phase. In this way, one can obtain 6 bosonic theories. Besides that one can perform fermizations to these theories leading to 9 fermionic theories. In total, there are 15 absolute theories.

For each of these absolute theories, one can stack SPT phase and Arf invariant, it turns out that these two operations generating D_8 group. So, there are 8 global variants associated with each absolute theory and totally 120 global variants. The counting of global variants can also be understood from the automorphism group of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q)$. In this example, we find that $|\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q)| = 720$, which again can be understood as the semiproduct of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2)$ and $\mathcal{O}_2(Q)$. Since $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2) = S_3$, we find that $|\mathcal{O}_2(Q)| = 120$ that corresponds to global variants of $T_2[\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)]$.

Similar to the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, we can associate each global variants with a matrix $M \in \mathcal{O}_2(Q)$. This matrix presentation of a global variant can be obtained from the maximal isotropic sublattice L and the complement L^{\perp} . For example, consider L_1 and L_1^{\perp} , one can obtain 8 the following matrices

Each of them is a matrix in $\mathcal{O}_2(Q)$ associated with a global variants. Similarly, one can obtain the matrix representation for other L's.

These 2d theories admit many topological defects. For example, let's consider the global variant defined by the following $\mathcal{O}_2(Q)$ matrix

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.57)

From the 1st and 3rd, we can see that they are from the L_2 and $B = \{(0, 1, 0, 0), (0, 0, 1, 0)\}$. Consider the duality transformation S and D. These action can be undone by the following two topological manipulation

$$\sigma_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

which represents gauging of subgroups in $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ with possible stacking of SPT phases. In this way, one can realize topological defects in the theory specified by M at the fixed points found in (3.55). Since the construction involving gauging, the corresponding symmetry is non-invertible described by the $TY(D_8)$ category [101].

N = p > 2. Let's consider a theory with non-anomalous symmetry $G = \mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}_p$ where p is prime larger than 2. There are three types of topological manipulations include the automorphism of $\mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}_p$, the stacking of SPT phase $v_2 \in H^2(\mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}_p, \mathrm{U}(1)) = \mathbb{Z}_p$ and gauging subgroups of $\mathbb{Z}_p \times \mathbb{Z}_p$. With these basic operations, one can find 2(p+1) gauging operations [166]. Take p = 3 for example, there are 4 ways that \mathbb{Z}_3 can embedded in $\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3$. In terms of their generator, (1,0), (0,1), (1,1), (1,2). Besides that, one has 3 ways to gauge $\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3$ with the SPT phase. Taking into account the trivial gauging, there are a total of 8 orbifolding operations leading to a orbifold groupoid.

This result can be confirmed from the study of global variants of $T_3[\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)]$. The maximal isotropic sublattices in this case are given by

$$\begin{split} &L_1 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,0,1), (0,1,0,0), (0,1,0,1), (0,0,0,2), (0,1,0,2), (0,2,0,0), (0,2,0,1), (0,2,0,2)\} \\ &L_2 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,0,1), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,0,0,2), (1,0,0,2), (2,0,0,0), (2,0,0,1), (2,0,0,2)\} \\ &L_3 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,0), (0,1,0,0), (0,1,1,0), (0,0,2,0), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,0,0), (0,2,1,0), (0,2,2,0)\} \\ &L_4 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,0,1,0), (1,0,0,0), (1,0,1,0), (0,0,2,0), (1,0,2,0), (2,0,0,0), (2,0,1,0), (2,0,2,0)\} \\ &L_5 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,0,1), (0,2,0,2), (1,0,2,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,2,2), (2,0,1,0), (2,1,1,1), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_6 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,1,0), (0,1,0,2), (0,2,0,1), (1,1,1,2), (1,2,2,2), (2,0,0,1), (2,1,1,1), (2,2,2,1)\} \\ &L_7 = \{(0,0,0,0), (0,1,1,0), (0,2,2,0), (1,0,0,2), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,2,2), (2,0,0,1), (2,1,1,1), (2,2,2,1)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,1,2,0), (0,2,1,0), (1,1,2,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,0,0,2), (2,1,2,2), (2,2,1,2)\} \\ &L_8 = \{(0,0,0,0), (1,0,0,1), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0$$

which defines 8 absolute theories with $\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3$ symmetry on Σ_2 . Considering the possible stacking of SPT phase, there are 3 global variants for each absolute theory. Thus, there are 24 global variants of $T_3[\#^2(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1)]$.

The automorphism group has order $|\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_3}(\mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_3)| = 1152$. Taking into account the automorphism group $\operatorname{GL}(3,\mathbb{Z}_3)$ with order 48, one has that $|\mathcal{O}_3(Q)| = 24$ which is expected from the physical analysis. Similarly, one can assign each global variant to a $\mathcal{O}_3(Q)$ matrix. For example, the matrices of global variants defined by L_1 and its complement L_1^{\perp} is given

by

$$M_{L_{1}}^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_{L_{1}}^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 2 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M_{L_{1}}^{(3)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \\ 0 \ 2 \ 1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Next, consider the global variant defined by $M_{L_1}^{(2)}$. The S duality and D duality will change the global variants. To get back $M_{L_1}^{(2)}$, one can perform the gaugings defined by

$$\sigma_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_7 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

which can undo the duality transformation S and D. Again, we construct the non-invertible defects at the fixed point of these self-dual couplings. In general, there are many topological defects and we will study them in future work.

4 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs on Hirzebruch surfaces \mathbb{F}_l

In this section, we will study the compactification of the 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ theories of type A_{N-1} on Hirzebruch surfaces \mathbb{F}_l . As we will see that it is sufficient to focus on the case \mathbb{F}_1 . Using 3d SymTFT, we determine the global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ and possible topological manipulations for various different N. Similar to the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, we identify the duality group MCG(\mathbb{F}_1) and the coupling of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ from invariant volume of \mathbb{F}_1 . Finally, we construct topological defects in each of these global variants.

4.1 Twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory

Let us denote the divisor classes of Hirzebruch surface \mathbb{F}_l by f and b, and they have the intersection form

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} f \cdot f & f \cdot b \\ b \cdot f & b \cdot b \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & -l \end{pmatrix} .$$
(4.1)

After compactification, the 7d TQFT in equation (2.1) becomes

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{2\pi} \int \hat{a} \wedge da - \frac{Nl}{4\pi} \int a \wedge da \tag{4.2}$$

where $a = \int_b c$ and $\hat{a} = \int_f c$. Note that under the gauge transformation of $a \to a + dg$ and $\hat{a} \to \hat{a} + d\hat{g}$, there will be a boundary term

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\Sigma_2} (2N\hat{g} - Nlg) da \tag{4.3}$$

which constrains us to consider the transformations satisfying $2N\hat{g} - Nlg \in 2\pi\mathbb{Z}$ [181].

From this, the K-matrix and its inverse are determined to be

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & N \\ N & -lN \end{pmatrix}, \quad K^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{l}{N} & \frac{1}{N} \\ \frac{1}{N} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.4)

We see that the defect group is

$$\mathscr{D}_{\mathbb{F}_l} = \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N, \tag{4.5}$$

The line operators $L_{(e,m)}$ are given similarly by the equation (2.28) with $(e,m) \in \mathbb{Z}_N \times \mathbb{Z}_N$. The topological spin is

$$\theta\left(L_{(e,m)}\right) = \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N}\left(em + \frac{le^2}{2}\right)\right)$$
(4.6)

and the S-matrix is determined to be

$$S(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta}) = \frac{1}{N} \exp\left[\frac{2\pi i}{N} (\alpha_1 \beta_1 l + \alpha_2 \beta_1 + \alpha_1 \beta_2)\right].$$
(4.7)

This matches with the result in reference [182] which computed such S-matrices from the point of view of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SU(N) SYM on \mathbb{F}_l .

By pushing our 3d defect lines γ , γ' to the 2d boundary Σ of our 3-manifold M_3 , we find the following commutation relation between line operators

$$L_{\vec{\alpha}}(\gamma)L_{\vec{\beta}}(\gamma') = B(\vec{\alpha},\vec{\beta})^{\gamma\cdot\gamma'}L_{\vec{\beta}}(\gamma')L_{\vec{\alpha}}(\gamma), \qquad (4.8)$$

where $\gamma \cdot \gamma'$ denotes the intersection number of the two lines on the 2d boundary or equivalently their linking number in bulk. This allows us to define absolute theories on the boundary Σ of the 3-manifold M_3 by choosing a maximal commuting subgroup of the defect group or in other words by choosing a polarization. Such a subgroup L is determined by the requirement

$$B(\vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta}) = 1 \quad \forall \ \vec{\alpha}, \vec{\beta} \in L.$$
(4.9)

In fact, it is sufficient to consider the case with l = 1, since one can always shift the coefficient -Nl in the DW twist to an integer in \mathbb{Z}_{2N} by $\hat{a} \to \hat{a} - a$. For even l, the DW twist can be turned off, and the action gives the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. While all the odd l is equivalent to l = 1 and the 3d TQFT is a twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory denoted by $(\mathbb{Z}_N)_N$. In the following, we will focus on the 4-manifold \mathbb{F}_1 . For theories $T_N[\mathbb{F}_l]$, although the local dynamical physics are different, the global variants, symmetries, and anomalies are captured by the SymTFT obtained for $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$.

4.2 Global variants

Similarly with the \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theories, we expect the topological manipulations of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ include \mathbb{Z}_N gauging σ and stacking Arf invariant ξ which can be observed from $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$. Besides, there are also duality transformations from $\operatorname{MCG}(\mathbb{F}_1)$. For \mathbb{F}_1 , we find that $\operatorname{MCG}(\mathbb{F}_1) = \mathbb{Z}_2^2$ given by

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad r = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad -I = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad -rI = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ -2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.10)

The only group element that acts non-trivially on the global variants is r.



Figure 12. Web of transformations for $T_2[\mathbb{F}_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

N = 2. In this case, we find the following maximal isotropic sublattice⁴

$$L = \{(0,0), (1,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_2$$

So, there is only one absolute theory according to its symmetry denoted by \mathbb{Z}_2 . Different from the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge theory, there is no maximal isotropic sublattice corresponding to theory with \mathbb{Z}_2 gauged because the DW twist $\omega \in H^3(W_3, U(1))$ is a t'Hooft anomaly for \mathbb{Z}_2 .

This anomaly can be probed from the braiding between lines in the SymTFT. The theory has four anyons 1, s, \bar{s} and $b = s \times \bar{s}$ with topological spin $\theta(1) = \theta(b) = 1$, $\theta(s) = i$ and $\theta(s) = -i$. Notice that these anyons are identical to those in the double semion model. Indeed, there is only one type of topological boundary condition found in the double semion model [183]. The maximal isotropic sublattice corresponds to take Lagrangian algebra (1, b). As one can check that there is non-trivial braiding between either s and \bar{s} with itself, which implies that \mathbb{Z}_2 is anomalous [160].

Since there is only one absolute theory, the automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q)$ is also simple, which is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2 with generator

$$\xi = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.11}$$

Similar to the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, we can understand this operation as stacking some invertible TQFT. Again, we will denote the theory with and without this stacking as $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_0$ and $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_1$.

Hence in this case, there are two global variants, labeled by $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_0$ and $(\mathbb{Z}_2)_1$, which are transformed into each other with the stacking of the non-trivial phase ξ and the duality r. The same as the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, one can associate a $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q)$ matrices to each global variant and perform the operation ξ and r on it using the equations (2.48) and (2.47). The result is in figure 12.

N = p > 2. Consider N is a prime number larger than two. The maximal isotropic lattices can be obtained from the equation (2.15). For p = 3, they are

$$L_1 = \{(0,0), (1,0), (2,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_3$$
$$L_2 = \{(0,0), (1,2), (2,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_3^p$$

In fact, one can show that there are only two maximal isotropic sublattices for any prime p.

⁴Note the maximal isotropic sublattices are computed by (2.16), which are dual to the polarizations found using the condition (4.9) in SymTFT.



Figure 13. Web of transformations for $T_p[\mathbb{F}_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

Consider the sublattice generated by a lattice point (e, m) other than (0, 0) in \mathbb{Z}_p^2 . Thus, the sublattice contains points (e', m') satisfying (e', m') = k(e, m) with $k \in \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. The inner product between these two points is

$$k(2em - m^2) = 0, \mod p.$$
 (4.12)

For prime p, the only solution is either m = 0 or $2e = m \mod p$. Thus, the isotropic sublattices are generated by points (1,0) and (1,2) which define the following polarization

$$L_1 = \langle (1,0) \rangle \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p, \qquad L_2 = \langle (1,2) \rangle \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_p^{\rho}$$

$$(4.13)$$

Note that physically the above isotropic condition can be understood as the requirement of gauge invariance of the SymTFT discussed in (4.3). One can also consider the sublattices generated by two or more linear independent points in \mathbb{Z}_p^2 . However, in this case, one always gets the full lattice, which is obviously not isotropic. Thus, one can only find two maximal isotropic lattices when N is prime and larger than two. When N = 2, these two polarizations are the same.

The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(Q)$ is still $D_{2(p-1)}$. Taking into account the $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_p) = \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$, one has $\mathcal{O}_p(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ with generator

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 2 & p - 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.14)

As one can check ρ switches two polarizations L_1 and L_2 . However, due to the twist, one cannot gauge \mathbb{Z}_p since the operation ρ cannot be understood as gauging.⁵ Indeed, the gauging operation comes from the electro-magnetic duality in the bulk, but the twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory does not have it. We will denote one absolute theory defined by L_1 as \mathbb{Z}_p and denote the other one by \mathbb{Z}_p^{ρ} to emphasize that it can be obtained from the theory \mathbb{Z}_p by a topological manipulation ρ . Note that there is no ξ operation for prime p. \mathbb{Z}_p and \mathbb{Z}_p^{ρ} are the only two global variants of $T_p[\mathbb{F}_1]$ related by the operation ρ and duality r as in figure 13.

⁵Note that for N = p, we did not find the obstruction to gauging discussed in [160]. For either L_1 and L_2 , one can always find representatives in B_1 and B_2 such that they have trivial braiding and generating \mathbb{Z}_p symmetry on Σ_2 .



Figure 14. Web of transformations for $T_4[\mathbb{F}_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

N = 4. The maximal isotropic lattices are

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0), (1,0), (2,0), (3,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{4}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0), (1,2), (2,0), (3,2)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{4}^{\rho}$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (2,0), (2,2)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{\rho}.$$
(4.15)

There are two absolute theories with \mathbb{Z}_4 symmetry denoted by \mathbb{Z}_4 and \mathbb{Z}_4^{ρ} which are defined by the central extension of \mathbb{Z}_2 by \mathbb{Z}_2 in (3.28) and (3.29), and one aboslute theory with anomalous symmetry $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2^{\rho}$.

The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_4}(Q)$ is \mathbb{Z}_2^3 . Taking into account the $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_4) = \mathbb{Z}_2$, one has $\mathcal{O}_4(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2^2$ with generator

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \xi = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.16}$$

As one can check that ρ switching two polarizations L_1 and L_2 can be understood as an operation of gauging \mathbb{Z}_4 while ξ is the operation of stacking a non-trivial phase. Thus, there are four global variants of $T_4[\mathbb{F}_1]$. They transform under duality r and topological manipulation ξ and ρ in figure 14.

Note that the absolute theory defined by L_3 is not connected with the other four global variants via topological manipulations because the topological manipulations are \mathbb{Z}_4 preserving operations while the absolute theory has symmetry $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2^{\rho}$ with a mixed anomaly μ_3 . This anomaly is the same one found from \mathbb{Z}_4 discrete gauge theory in equation (3.32). Similarly, one can detect it from the braidings between the line operations (3.33).

N = 6. The maximal isotropic lattices are

$$L_1 = \{(0,0), (1,0), (2,0), (3,0), (4,0), (5,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_6 = \mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$$
$$L_2 = \{(0,0), (1,2), (3,0), (2,4), (4,2), (5,4)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_6^{\rho} = \mathbb{Z}_3^{\rho} \times \mathbb{Z}_2$$



Figure 15. Web of transformations for $T_6[\mathbb{F}_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

N	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
Aut $_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$	\mathbb{Z}_2	\mathbb{Z}_2^2	\mathbb{Z}_2^3	D_8	\mathbb{Z}_2^3	D_{12}	\mathbb{Z}_2^5	D_{12}	$\mathbb{Z}_2 \times D_8$	D_{20}

Table 3. The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ of \mathbb{F}_1 up to N = 11.

The theory $T_6[\mathbb{F}_1]$ on the boundary has \mathbb{Z}_6 symmetry. We can also use its subgroups \mathbb{Z}_3 and \mathbb{Z}_2 to denote its global variants. The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_6}(Q)$ is \mathbb{Z}_2^3 . Taking into account the $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Z}_6) = \mathbb{Z}_2$, one has $\mathcal{O}_6(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2^2$ with generator

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 5 \end{pmatrix} \qquad \xi = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 3 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.17}$$

As one can check that ρ switching two polarizations L_1 and L_2 while ξ is the operation of stacking a non-trivial phase. Thus, there are four global variants of $T_6[\mathbb{F}_1]$. They transform under duality r and topological manipulation ξ and ρ in figure 15.

General N. With the help of twisted \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory, we can study the global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ for general N. The possible topological manipulations are determined by the automorphism group $\mathcal{O}_N(Q)$. These topological manipulations act transitively on the global variants and the number of global variants is $d(N) = |\mathcal{O}_N(Q)|$. By associating each global variant with a $\mathcal{O}_N(Q)$ matrix, we can determine how they transform under the topological manipulations.

The automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ is important for finding the global variants, and topological manipulations. Besides that, it also gives the 0-form symmetry for the twisted gauge theory $(\mathbb{Z}_N)_N$. We compute $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$ for $N = 2, 3 \dots 11$, and identify them to finite groups in table 3. Note that, for odd N, our results match with the 0-form symmetry for the twisted gauge theory $(\mathbb{Z}_N)_N$ studied in [167] while, for even N, our approach from the compactification of 6d SCFT gives the 0-form symmetry of the spin $(\mathbb{Z}_N)_N$ theories.

4.3 Topological defects

We discuss the non-invertible symmetries for $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$. Analogous to the cases of $M_4 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, we need to introduce a parameter R, where $MCG(\mathbb{F}_1)$ acts on. Then, we study the non-invertible defect at the fixed point under the duality transformation.

Coupling from geometry. There is a coupling in the theory $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$. We will determine it from the invariant volume of \mathbb{F}_1 . The duality group $MCG(\mathbb{F}_1) = \mathbb{Z}_2^2$ is discussed in (4.10). Let us denote the Kahler class (Poincaré dual to the Kahler form) as

$$J = xb + yf \equiv \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} . \tag{4.18}$$

The volume of the 4-manifold \mathbb{F}_1 is given by

$$V_{\mathbb{F}_1} = \frac{1}{2} J^T Q J \,. \tag{4.19}$$

 $V_{\mathbb{F}_1}$ is invariant under the base change $J \to PJ$, where $P \in \mathrm{GL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ satisfies

$$P^T Q P = Q. (4.20)$$

Hence we conclude that the action of P on the geometry of \mathbb{F}_1 is exactly given by J' = PJ. We introduce the parameter

$$R = \frac{x}{y} \tag{4.21}$$

that transforms under the elements of $MCG(\mathbb{F}_1)$. To see its geometric meaning, we compute the volume of 2-cycles

$$V_f = J \cdot f = x$$

$$V_b = J \cdot b = y - x$$

$$V_{b+f} = V_f + V_b = y.$$
(4.22)

Hence R is the ratio of the volume of f over the volume of b + f, which are both S^2 :

$$R = \frac{V_f}{V_{b+f}} \,. \tag{4.23}$$

Under the duality transformation r from equation (4.10), the coupling changes as

$$r(R) = \frac{R}{2R - 1}.$$
(4.24)

The fixed point is hence R = 1. We will fix the coupling to this value in the following.

In analogy with the $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ case, to construct the duality defect in a global variant M, one needs to search for a combination of the topological operations $G(\rho, \tau)$, the operation ρ and stacking SPT phase τ , and the duality F from the MCG(\mathbb{F}_1) such that FMG = M, i.e. the global variant keeps the same. Then the duality defect is given by $\mathcal{N} = FG$ at the fixed point of R. In this way, we find all defects in the global variants of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ for N is 4, 6 and prime numbers. The result is listed in table 4. Note that the physical explanation of the topological manipulation ρ is not clear. We will study the fusion rule of these defects in future work.

Ν	Theory	Defects
2	$(\mathbb{Z}_2)_m$	au r
р	$\mathbb{Z}_p, \mathbb{Z}_p^ ho$	ho r
4	$(\mathbb{Z}_4)_m, (\mathbb{Z}_4^{\rho})_m$	$\xi^m \rho r \xi^m$
6	$(\mathbb{Z}_6)_m, (\mathbb{Z}_6^{\rho})_m$	$\xi^m \rho r \xi^m$

Table 4. Topological defects of $T_N[\mathbb{F}_1]$ at R = 1.

5 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs on del Pezzo surfaces

In this section, we will study the global variants, symmetries, and possible anomalies of theories $T_N[M_4]$ when the 4-manifold is a del Pezzo surface dP_l with $l \ge 1$. The Picard group generators of dP_l are denoted as h, e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_l , which satisfies the intersection relations

$$h^2 = 1, \ h \cdot e_i = 0, \ e_i \cdot e_j = -\delta_{i,j} \quad (i, j = 1, 2, \dots, l).$$
 (5.1)

The intersection form of dP_l is a rank-(l+1) matrix, of the form

$$Q_{ij} = \text{diag}(1, -1, \dots, -1).$$
 (5.2)

We compute the mapping class group $MCG(dP_l)$ and $Aut_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)$, whose elements correspond to the solutions to the equations (2.43) and (2.44). We discuss the choices of polarization for some examples of l, N. Note that in general

$$H^2(dP_l, \mathbb{Z}_N) = \mathbb{Z}_N^{l+1}.$$
(5.3)

These group elements one-to-one correspond to the genuine topological line operators, which are labeled by

$$L_{(c_1, c_2, \dots, c_{l+1})}(\gamma) = \prod_{i=1}^{l+1} \exp\left(\frac{2\pi i}{N} \oint_{\gamma} c_i a_i\right) \quad (c_i = 1, \dots, N).$$
(5.4)

Example: dP_1 . Consider $M_4 = dP_1$ with intersection form⁶

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{5.5}$$

The automorphism group of dP_1 is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}_2^2 given by

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad -I = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad s = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad -s = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.6)

As before the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup generated by -I corresponds to flipping the orientation. While the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup generated by *s* means changing the exceptional divisor *e* to -e leading to the non-trivial duality in $T_N[dP_1]$. Now, we will discuss their global forms.

⁶Note that it is not isomorphic to the \mathbb{F}_0 since one can not find an unimodular matrix $G \in GL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $Q_{dP_1} = G^t Q_{\mathbb{F}_0} G$. In fact, the Picard group of it is the even 2-dimensional unimodular indefinite lattice $II_{1,1}$.



Figure 16. Web of transformations for $T_2[dP_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations. Note that the duality s does not transform between them.



Figure 17. Web of transformations for $T_p[dP_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

N = 2. The only polarization for N = 2 is

$$L = \{(0,0), (1,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_2$$

Obviously, it is invariant under the duality s. The possible topological manipulation can be read from the group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ generated by

$$t_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \tag{5.7}$$

which corresponds to some topological manipulation denoted by t_1 . Thus, there are two global forms of $T_2[dP_1]$. According to the previous prescription, we can associate each one with a matrix and the web of the global forms are plotted in figure 16.

N = p. There are two polarizations when N is a prime number, which are given by

$$L_1 = \langle (1,1) \rangle \quad \to \quad \mathbb{Z}_p$$
$$L_2 = \langle (1,-1) \rangle \quad \to \quad (\mathbb{Z}_p)_{t_2}$$

The possible topological manipulation can be read from the group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2$ generated by

$$t_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{5.8}$$

which corresponds to some \mathbb{Z}_2 topological manipulation η . Thus, there are two global forms of $T_p[dP_1]$. According to the previous prescription, we can associate each one with a matrix and the web of the global forms are plotted in figure 17.



Figure 18. Web of transformations for $T_4[dP_1]$. The transformations in orange are the duality transformations. The transformations in blue are topological manipulations.

N = 4. There are three polarizations when N is a prime number, which are given by

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0), (1,1), (2,2), (3,3)\} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{4}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0), (2,2), (1,3), (3,1)\} \rightarrow (\mathbb{Z}_{4}^{t_{2}})$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0), (0,2), (2,0), (2,2)\} \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \mathbb{Z}_{2}$$

The possible topological manipulation can be read from the group $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_p}(Q) = \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ generated by

$$t_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad t_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.9)

which corresponds to some \mathbb{Z}_2 topological manipulation η and stacking SPT phase. Thus, there are 4 global forms of $T_4[dP_1]$ associated with L_1 and L_3 . They transform into each other in figure 18. However, the polarization is invariant under both s, t_2 and t_3 are isolated from L_1 and L_2 .

Let J = xh + ye with $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$ be the Kähler form. One can define the parameter R in $T_N[dP_1]$ by

$$R = \frac{V_h}{V_e} = -\frac{x}{y} \tag{5.10}$$

where

$$V_h = x, \quad V_e = -y$$

are the volumes of 2-cycles. Under the duality s, it is easy to check that $R \to -R$. Thus, the theory admits topological defects only when R = 0. This implies that the divisor h has zero volume and dP_1 is singular. We will not consider singular 4-manifold in this paper.

Now we discuss the case of $M_4 = dP_2$ in detail. The solution of integral *T*-matrix to the equation (2.44) forms the discrete group $O(1, 2; \mathbb{Z})$. The generators are

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 2 & -2 \\ 2 & 1 & -2 \\ 2 & 2 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T_1 = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.11)

In particular, they generate all Pythgorean triples (a, b, c) satisfying $a^2 = b^2 + c^2$ from a given one.

The $O(1,2;\mathbb{Z})$ element P act on the Kahler form

$$J = xh + ye_1 + ze_2 = \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \\ z \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.12)

as $J \to PJ$. The volumes of 2-cycles are

$$V_{h} = J \cdot h = x$$

$$V_{e_{1}} = J \cdot e_{1} = -y$$

$$V_{e_{2}} = J \cdot e_{2} = -z$$
(5.13)

The volume of dP_2 is

$$V_{dP_2} = \frac{1}{2}J \cdot J = \frac{1}{2}(x^2 - y^2 - z^2).$$
(5.14)

Let us introduce two geometric parameters

$$R_1 = -\frac{x}{y} = \frac{V_H}{V_{E_1}}, \ R_2 = \frac{y}{z} = \frac{V_{E_1}}{V_{E_2}},$$
(5.15)

the $O(1,2;\mathbb{Z})$ generators acting non-trivially on R_1 are R_2 are

$$S \cdot R_{1} = R_{1}R_{2}, \qquad S \cdot R_{2} = \frac{1}{R_{2}}$$

$$A \cdot R_{1} = -\frac{3R_{1}R_{2} + 2R_{2} - 2}{2R_{1}R_{2} + R_{2} - 2}, \quad A \cdot R_{2} = \frac{2R_{1}R_{2} + R_{2} - 2}{2R_{1}R_{2} + 2R_{2} - 1} \qquad (5.16)$$

$$T_{1} \cdot R_{1} = -R_{1}, \qquad T_{1} \cdot R_{2} = R_{2}$$

$$T_{2} \cdot R_{1} = -R_{1}, \qquad T_{2} \cdot R_{2} = -R_{2}.$$

We discuss the fixed point of (R_1, R_2) under the actions of some subgroups of $O(1, 2; \mathbb{Z})$. For the finite subgroup of $O(1, 2; \mathbb{Z})$, the only meaningful one is the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup generated by S, since if one include A, they must generate an infinite subgroup. For the \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup $\{I, S\}$, the fixed point is given by

$$(R_1, R_2) = (R_1, 1), (5.17)$$

which is an extended loci in the terminology of [159].

N = 2. The maximal isotropic sublattices are labeled as

$$L_{1} = \{(0,0,0), (0,1,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(1)}$$

$$L_{2} = \{(0,0,0), (1,0,1)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(2)}$$

$$L_{3} = \{(0,0,0), (1,1,0)\} \to \mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(3)}.$$
(5.18)

The T solutions to (2.44) are

$$\left\{I, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}\right\}$$
(5.19)

They form an $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_2}(Q) = S_3$ group, with generators

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \tau = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.20}$$

satisfying

$$\sigma^2 = \tau^2 = I, \ (\sigma\tau)^3 = I.$$
 (5.21)

There are six global forms $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(1)})_0$, $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(2)})_0$, $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(3)})_0$, $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(1)})_1$, $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(2)})_1$, $(\mathbb{Z}_2^{(3)})_1$, which are transformed by S_3 elements in the same way as the case of $M = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$, N = 2. We plot the transformations in figure 19.

We also list the topological defects at the fixed point $(R_1, R_2) = (R_1, 1)$, analogous to the case of $T_2[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$:

$$\begin{array}{c|c}
 Theory & Defects \\
\hline
 (\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(1)})_{m}, (\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(2)})_{m} & \tau^{m} \sigma S \tau^{m} \\
\hline
 (\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(3)})_{m} & \tau^{m} \tau S \tau^{m}
\end{array}$$
(5.22)

For N = 3, there are 48 T solutions to (2.44), they form a group $S_4 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$, which is generated by

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$
 (5.23)

In the above equation, the first three elements generate the S_4 factor, while the last diagonal matrix generates the \mathbb{Z}_2 factor. More generally, we list the number n of the solutions to (2.44) for different N here:

N	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	(5.94)
$ \operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q) $	6	48	128	240	288	672	2048	1296	1440	2640	



From the growth of $|\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{Z}_N}(Q)|$, we can see that $T_N[dP_2]$ is not simply a \mathbb{Z}_N gauge theory. Finally let us briefly discuss the cases of $M_4 = dP_l$ for l > 2. For $M_4 = dP_3$, we list the number n of solutions to (2.44) for some values of N:

au

S

 σ

N	2	3	4	5	6	7
n	48	1440	12288	28800	69120	235200

For $M_4 = dP_4$, when N = 2, the number of solutions to (2.44) is 720. In general, we will leave a detailed discussion of the physics of $T_N[M_4]$ in the future work.

6 6d $\mathcal{N} = (2,0)$ SCFTs on general 4-manifolds

 $0 \ 0 \ 1$

100

 $0 \ 1 \ 0$

 $(\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(1)})_{1}$

au

 $(\mathbb{Z}_{2}^{(1)})_{0}$

 $1 \ 0 \ 0$

 $0 \ 0 \ 1$

In this section, we consider $T_N[M_4]$ with a general 4-manifold M_4 , which is allowed to have 1-cycles, 3-cycles, as well as torsional cycles. Using Poincaré duality and universal coefficient theorem, the general form of homology and cohomology groups are

$$H_*(S,\mathbb{Z}) = \left(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_1} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z}_{l_{\alpha}}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_2} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z}_{l_{\alpha}}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_1}, \mathbb{Z}\right)$$
$$H^*(S,\mathbb{Z}) = \left(\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_1}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_2} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z}_{l_{\alpha}}, \mathbb{Z}^{b_1} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z}_{l_{\alpha}}, \mathbb{Z}\right).$$
(6.1)

We denote the free generators of $H^n(M_4, \mathbb{Z})$ by v_n^i , and the torsional generators of $H^n(M_4, \mathbb{Z})$ by t_n^{α} , then we expand the differential cohomology class \check{G}_4 as

$$\breve{G}_{4} = \sum_{i=1}^{b_{1}} \breve{F}_{3}^{i} \star \breve{v}_{1}^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{b_{2}} \breve{F}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{v}_{2}^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{b_{1}} \breve{F}_{1}^{i} \star \breve{v}_{3}^{i}
+ \sum_{\alpha} \breve{B}_{1}^{\alpha} \star \breve{t}_{3}^{\alpha} + \sum_{\alpha} \breve{B}_{2}^{\alpha} \star \breve{t}_{2}^{\alpha}.$$
(6.2)

Plug (6.2) into the SymTFT action of 6d (2,0) theory

$$S_{\rm 7d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int \breve{G}_4 \star \breve{G}_4 \tag{6.3}$$

and expand out the terms. The SymTFT action has two parts, the first part involves the primary invariant integrated over M_4 :

$$S_{3d,1} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{b_2} \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_2^i \star \breve{v}_2^j \int_{W_3} \breve{F}_2^i \star \breve{F}_2^j + \sum_{i,j=1}^{b_1} 2 \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_1^i \star \breve{v}_3^j \int_{W_3} \breve{F}_3^i \star \breve{F}_1^j \right) \,. \tag{6.4}$$

The second part involves the secondary invariant integrated over S:

$$S_{3d,2} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \left(\sum_{i,\alpha} \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_2^i \star \breve{t}_3^\alpha \int_{W_3} \breve{F}_2^i \star \breve{B}_1^\alpha + \sum_{i,\alpha} \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_3^i \star \breve{t}_2^\alpha \int_{W_3} \breve{F}_1^i \star \breve{B}_2^\alpha \right) + \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \int_{M_4} \breve{t}_2^\alpha \star \breve{t}_3^\beta \int_{W_3} \breve{B}_2^\alpha \star \breve{B}_1^\beta \right).$$

$$(6.5)$$

After plug in $F_2^i = da^i$, $F_1^i = dc_0^i$ and $F_3^i = db^i$, the terms (6.4) become

$$S_{3d,1} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{b_2} \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_2^i \star \breve{v}_2^j \int_{W_3} a^i \wedge da^j + \sum_{i,j=1}^{b_1} 2 \int_{M_4} \breve{v}_1^i \star \breve{v}_3^j \int_{W_3} c_0^i \wedge db^j \right)$$
(6.6)

For the terms (6.5), the terms on the first line can be eliminated by redefining $\breve{v}_2^i \rightarrow \breve{v}_2^i + m_{i\alpha}t_2^{\alpha}$ and $\breve{v}_3^i \rightarrow \breve{v}_3^i + n_{i\alpha}t_3^{\alpha}$ $(m_{i\alpha}, n_{i\alpha} \in \mathbb{Z})$. The remaining terms are

$$S_{3d,2} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \sum_{\alpha,\beta} \int_{M_4} \breve{t}_2^{\alpha} \star \breve{t}_3^{\beta} \int_{W_3} \breve{B}_2^{\alpha} \star \breve{B}_1^{\beta} \,. \tag{6.7}$$

6.1 $T^2 \times S^2$

As an example of M_4 with odd-dimensional cycles, we consider the dimensional reduction of 6d (2,0) A_N theory on $M_4 = T^2 \times S^2$, which results in various 2d theories $T_N[T^2 \times S^2]$ with certain amounts of supersymmetries.

The 4-manifold $T^2 \times S^2$ has homology and cohomology groups

$$H_*(T^2 \times S^2, \mathbb{Z}) = (\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z})$$

$$H^*(T^2 \times S^2, \mathbb{Z}) = (\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z}^2, \mathbb{Z}).$$

(6.8)

We denote the generators of $H^i(T^2 \times S^2, \mathbb{Z})$ by $\omega_i, \hat{\omega}_i \ (i = 1, 2, 3)$. We can thus expand the 3-form c as

$$c = b \wedge \omega_1 + \hat{b} \wedge \hat{\omega}_1 + a \wedge \omega_2 + \hat{a} \wedge \hat{\omega}_2 + c_0 \wedge \omega_3 + \hat{c}_0 \wedge \hat{\omega}_3.$$
(6.9)

After integrating the 7d topological action (2.1) over $T^2 \times S^2$, we obtain the 3d topological action

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int_{M_3} a \wedge d\hat{a} + \hat{a} \wedge da + b \wedge d\hat{c}_0 - \hat{c}_0 \wedge db - \hat{b} \wedge dc_0 + c_0 \wedge d\hat{b}$$

$$= \frac{2\pi}{N} \int_{M_3} a\delta\hat{a} + b\delta\hat{c}_0 - \hat{b}\delta c_0 .$$
(6.10)

On the second line, the gauge fields all become \mathbb{Z}_N -valued cochains. a and \hat{a} are gauge fields for \mathbb{Z}_N 0-form symmetries, analogous to the case of $T_N[\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1]$. b and \hat{b} are gauge fields for \mathbb{Z}_N 1-form symmetries. c_0 and \hat{c}_0 are scalars, which can be thought as background gauge fields for \mathbb{Z}_N (-1)-form symmetries. Note that the two \mathbb{Z}_N 1-form symmetries are mutually local, which leads to the prediction that the 2d theory may have a $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_N^2$ 1-form symmetry.

6.2 Enriques surface

An Enriques surface S is a complex surface with torsional homology and cohomology groups

$$H_*(S,\mathbb{Z}) = (\mathbb{Z}, \mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}^{10} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2, 0, \mathbb{Z})$$

$$H^*(S,\mathbb{Z}) = (\mathbb{Z}, 0, \mathbb{Z}^{10} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}_2, \mathbb{Z}).$$
(6.11)

The surface has topological invariants

$$\chi(S) = 12, \ \sigma(S) = -8.$$
 (6.12)

Hence the central charge of the 2d theory $T_G[S]$ is

$$c_R = 6r_G \tag{6.13}$$

$$c_L = 12r_G \,.$$

Let us expand the differential cohomology class \check{G}_4 as

$$\breve{G}_4 = \sum_{i=1}^{10} \breve{F}_2^i \star \breve{v}_2^i + \breve{B}_1 \star \breve{t}_3 + \breve{B}_2 \star \breve{t}_2 \,. \tag{6.14}$$

 \check{F}_2^i are field strengths of gauge fields a_i (i = 1, ..., 10), the background gauge fields of U(1) 0-form global symmetries. \check{B}_1 and \check{B}_2 are background gauge fields of \mathbb{Z}_2 0-form and 1-form global symmetries. Geometrically, \check{v}_2^i corresponds to the free part \mathbb{Z}^{10} of $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$. \check{t}_3 and \check{t}_2 corresponds to the \mathbb{Z}_2 torsion of $H^3(S, \mathbb{Z})$ and $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ respectively. In the Poincaré dual language, \check{t}_3 corresponds to the \mathbb{Z}_2 torsional 1-cycle [Σ_1], and \check{t}_2 corresponds to the \mathbb{Z}_2 torsional 2-cycle [Σ_2] on S.

Plug (6.14) into the SymTFT action of 6d (2,0) theory

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int \breve{G}_4 \star \breve{G}_4 \tag{6.15}$$

and expand out the terms. The SymTFT action has two parts, the first part involves the primary invariant integrated over S:

$$S_{3d,1} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \sum_{i,j=1}^{10} \int_{S} \breve{v}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{v}_{2}^{j} \int_{W_{3}} \breve{F}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{F}_{2}^{j} \,. \tag{6.16}$$

 $\int_S \breve{v}_2^i \star \breve{v}_2^j$ can be computed with the intersection form on the Enriques surface, with is the unimodular matrix $I_{1,9}$ with signature (1,9).

$$\int_{S} \breve{v}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{v}_{2}^{j} = Q_{ij}$$

$$Q = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, \dots, -1).$$
(6.17)

Hence after reducing to the 3d 't Hooft anomaly polynomial, we have

$$S_{3d,1} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \int_{W_3} Q_{ij} a^i \wedge da^j , \qquad (6.18)$$

where we contracted i, j indices.

The second part involves the secondary invariant integrated over S:

$$S_{3d,2} = \frac{N}{2\pi} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{10} \int_{S} \breve{v}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{t}_{3} \int_{W_{3}} \breve{F}_{2}^{i} \star \breve{B}_{1} + \int_{S} \breve{t}_{2} \star \breve{t}_{3} \int_{W_{3}} \breve{B}_{2} \star \breve{B}_{1} \right) \,. \tag{6.19}$$

Now let us evaluate the coefficients in the SymTFT action. First, we can set

$$\int_{S} \breve{v}_2^i \star \breve{t}_3 = 0 \tag{6.20}$$

by redefining $\breve{v}_2^i \to \breve{v}_2^i + m_i \breve{t}_2$ $(m_i \in \mathbb{Z})$. This shifting do not affect the computation of (6.17). Finally, the last term $\int_S \breve{t}_2 \star \breve{t}_3$ is computed via the linking pairing⁷

$$\int_{S} \breve{t}_{2} \star \breve{t}_{3} = \text{link}([\Sigma_{1}], [\Sigma_{2}]) = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(6.21)

The final SymTFT expression is

$$S_{3d} = \frac{N}{4\pi} \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^{10} Q_{ij} \int_{W_3} \breve{F}_2^i \star \breve{F}_2^j + \int_{W_3} \breve{B}_2 \star \breve{B}_1 \right) \,. \tag{6.22}$$

It is qualitatively different for even N and odd N. For odd N, there is a mixed 't Hooft anomaly between a \mathbb{Z}_2 1-form symmetry (with background gauge field B_2) and a \mathbb{Z}_2 0-form symmetry (with background gauge field B_1). For even N, the mixed 't Hooft anomaly term is absent.

⁷The linking pairing must equal to $\frac{1}{2}$, because it is non-degenerate.

7 Conclusion and outlook

In this paper we studied the symmetry TFT and duality defects of 2d CFTs obtained from compactification of the 6d (2,0) theory of A_{N-1} -type on 4-manifolds M_4 . We focused mainly on the case of $M_4 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ while also working out details of \mathbb{F}_1 and del Pezzo surfaces as well as more general complex surfaces. We find that such compactifications give rise to a rich multitude of duality networks and interesting defect fusion categories including non-invertible defects. A main message is that the combination of geometric dualities coming from M_4 and topological transformations on the field theory side together produce the full structure of 0-form symmetries. While in some cases the global variants and their connections on the 2d side were known previously from field theory constructions, we find that our geometric approach allows for a much more efficient classification. We find invertible defects by studying maximal isotropic sublattices of $H^2(M_4, \mathbb{Z}_N)$ and their complements giving rise to Abelian fusion categories in 2d. The corresponding fusion category in the bulk SymTFT is then the quantum double of the one on the boundary. Moreover, we find non-invertible defects which are realized at fixed points of coupling constants under the discrete automorphisms of M_4 . Here, coupling constants correspond to ratios of volumes of 2-cycles of M_4 and the discrete automorphisms act as generalized T-dualities on these.

In the case of del Pezzo surfaces, the structure seems to be more intricate and it is not immediately clear how to choose topological boundary conditions for the SymTFT which does not seem to be the quantum double of any known fusion category. However, the geometric method of choosing maximal isotropic sublattices does give rise to Abelian fusion categories on the boundary which can then be identified with possible topological boundary conditions. To get a more complete picture of the ultimate structure of the 2d TDLs one needs a thorough analysis of the SymTFT at the Lagrangian and field theoretical level. We leave this to future work.

Another interesting direction is to study SymTFTs arising from reductions for 6d (1,0) SCFTs. Reductions of such theories on a 4-manifold would give rise to 2d theories with half of the amount of supersymmetry and have richer physics [62, 63]. Besides that, the compactification of 6d (2,0) SCFTs on $T^2 \times S^2$ is expected to give various 2d SQCDs. It would be compelling to investigate the TDL structures of these theories in the far infra-red region, and compare them to our general SymTFT analysis employed in this paper. We also plan to explore these topics in future studies.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Chi-Ming Chang, Michele Del Zotto, Jiahua Tian, Azeem Hasan and Zheyan Wan for valuable discussions. JC is supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (No.20720230010) of China. BH is supported by the Young Thousand Talents grant of China as well as by the NSFC grant 12250610187. BH would like to thank the Max-Planck Institute for Mathematics and the Theoretical Physics Department of Utrecht University, where part of this work was completed, for hospitality. YNW is supported by National Science Foundation of China under Grant No. 12175004, by Peking University under startup Grant No. 7100603667, and by Young Elite Scientists Sponsorship Program by CAST (2022QNRC001). The work of WC is supported by the fellowship of China Postdoctoral Science Foundation NO.2022M720507 and in part by the Beijing Postdoctoral Research Foundation. WC would also like to thank the Tsinghua Sanya International Mathematics Forum (TSIMF) for hospitality where part of this work was completed.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- E. Witten, String theory dynamics in various dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 443 (1995) 85 [hep-th/9503124] [INSPIRE].
- [2] E. Witten, Some comments on string dynamics, in the proceedings of the STRINGS 95: future perspectives in string theory, (1995), p. 501 [hep-th/9507121] [INSPIRE].
- [3] E. Witten, Small instantons in string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 460 (1996) 541 [hep-th/9511030] [INSPIRE].
- [4] N. Seiberg and E. Witten, Comments on string dynamics in six-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 471 (1996) 121 [hep-th/9603003] [INSPIRE].
- [5] D.R. Morrison and C. Vafa, Compactifications of F theory on Calabi-Yau threefolds. 2, Nucl. Phys. B 476 (1996) 437 [hep-th/9603161] [INSPIRE].
- [6] N. Seiberg, Nontrivial fixed points of the renormalization group in six-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 390 (1997) 169 [hep-th/9609161] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A. Hanany and A. Zaffaroni, Branes and six-dimensional supersymmetric theories, Nucl. Phys. B 529 (1998) 180 [hep-th/9712145] [INSPIRE].
- [8] D.R. Morrison and W. Taylor, Classifying bases for 6D F-theory models, Central Eur. J. Phys. 10 (2012) 1072 [arXiv:1201.1943] [INSPIRE].
- J.J. Heckman, D.R. Morrison and C. Vafa, On the classification of 6D SCFTs and generalized ADE orbifolds, JHEP 05 (2014) 028 [Erratum ibid. 06 (2015) 017]
 [arXiv:1312.5746] [INSPIRE].
- M. Del Zotto, J.J. Heckman, A. Tomasiello and C. Vafa, 6D conformal matter, JHEP 02 (2015) 054 [arXiv:1407.6359] [INSPIRE].
- [11] J.J. Heckman, More on the matter of 6D SCFTs, Phys. Lett. B 747 (2015) 73 [Erratum ibid. 808 (2020) 135675] [arXiv:1408.0006] [INSPIRE].
- [12] J.J. Heckman, D.R. Morrison, T. Rudelius and C. Vafa, Atomic classification of 6D SCFTs, Fortsch. Phys. 63 (2015) 468 [arXiv:1502.05405] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.J. Heckman and T. Rudelius, Top down approach to 6D SCFTs, J. Phys. A 52 (2019) 093001 [arXiv:1805.06467] [INSPIRE].
- [14] D. Gaiotto, N = 2 dualities, JHEP 08 (2012) 034 [arXiv:0904.2715] [INSPIRE].
- [15] D. Gaiotto, G.W. Moore and A. Neitzke, Wall-crossing, Hitchin systems, and the WKB approximation, Adv. Math. 234 (2013) 239 [arXiv:0907.3987] [INSPIRE].

- [16] P.C. Argyres and N. Seiberg, S-duality in N = 2 supersymmetric gauge theories, JHEP 12 (2007) 088 [arXiv:0711.0054] [INSPIRE].
- [17] P.C. Argyres and J.R. Wittig, Infinite coupling duals of N = 2 gauge theories and new rank 1 superconformal field theories, JHEP **01** (2008) 074 [arXiv:0712.2028] [INSPIRE].
- [18] L.F. Alday, D. Gaiotto and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville correlation functions from four-dimensional gauge theories, Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 167 [arXiv:0906.3219]
 [INSPIRE].
- [19] F. Benini, Y. Tachikawa and B. Wecht, Sicilian gauge theories and N = 1 dualities, JHEP 01 (2010) 088 [arXiv:0909.1327] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Dimofte, S. Gukov and L. Hollands, Vortex counting and Lagrangian 3-manifolds, Lett. Math. Phys. 98 (2011) 225 [arXiv:1006.0977] [INSPIRE].
- [21] T. Dimofte and S. Gukov, Chern-Simons theory and S-duality, JHEP 05 (2013) 109 [arXiv:1106.4550] [INSPIRE].
- [22] T. Dimofte, D. Gaiotto and S. Gukov, Gauge theories labelled by three-manifolds, Commun. Math. Phys. 325 (2014) 367 [arXiv:1108.4389] [INSPIRE].
- [23] S. Gukov, P. Putrov and C. Vafa, Fivebranes and 3-manifold homology, JHEP 07 (2017) 071 [arXiv:1602.05302] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Zafrir, Brane webs, 5d gauge theories and 6d N = (1,0) SCFT's, JHEP 12 (2015) 157 [arXiv:1509.02016] [INSPIRE].
- [25] P. Jefferson, S. Katz, H.-C. Kim and C. Vafa, On geometric classification of 5d SCFTs, JHEP 04 (2018) 103 [arXiv:1801.04036] [INSPIRE].
- [26] L. Bhardwaj and P. Jefferson, Classifying 5d SCFTs via 6d SCFTs: rank one, JHEP 07 (2019) 178 [Addendum ibid. 01 (2020) 153] [arXiv:1809.01650] [INSPIRE].
- [27] L. Bhardwaj and P. Jefferson, Classifying 5d SCFTs via 6d SCFTs: arbitrary rank, JHEP
 10 (2019) 282 [arXiv:1811.10616] [INSPIRE].
- [28] F. Apruzzi, L. Lin and C. Mayrhofer, Phases of 5d SCFTs from M-/F-theory on non-flat fibrations, JHEP 05 (2019) 187 [arXiv:1811.12400] [INSPIRE].
- [29] F. Apruzzi et al., 5d superconformal field theories and graphs, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135077 [arXiv:1906.11820] [INSPIRE].
- [30] F. Apruzzi et al., Fibers add flavor. Part I. Classification of 5d SCFTs, flavor symmetries and BPS states, JHEP 11 (2019) 068 [arXiv:1907.05404] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Apruzzi et al., Fibers add Flavor. Part II. 5d SCFTs, gauge theories, and dualities, JHEP 03 (2020) 052 [arXiv:1909.09128] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Bhardwaj et al., Twisted circle compactifications of 6d SCFTs, JHEP 12 (2020) 151
 [arXiv:1909.11666] [INSPIRE].
- [33] L. Bhardwaj and G. Zafrir, Classification of 5d N = 1 gauge theories, JHEP 12 (2020) 099 [arXiv:2003.04333] [INSPIRE].
- [34] L. Bhardwaj, More 5d KK theories, JHEP 03 (2021) 054 [arXiv:2005.01722] [INSPIRE].
- [35] Z. Duan, K. Lee, J. Nahmgoong and X. Wang, Twisted 6d (2,0) SCFTs on a circle, JHEP 07 (2021) 179 [arXiv:2103.06044] [INSPIRE].

- [36] A.P. Braun et al., *Fibre-base duality of 5d KK theories*, *JHEP* **05** (2021) 200 [arXiv:2103.06066] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Tian and Y.-N. Wang, 5D and 6D SCFTs from C³ orbifolds, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022)
 127 [arXiv:2110.15129] [INSPIRE].
- [38] D. Gaiotto and H.-C. Kim, Duality walls and defects in 5d N = 1 theories, JHEP **01** (2017) 019 [arXiv:1506.03871] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S.S. Razamat, C. Vafa and G. Zafrir, 4d N = 1 from 6d (1,0), JHEP **04** (2017) 064 [arXiv:1610.09178] [INSPIRE].
- [40] B. Assel, S. Schafer-Nameki and J.-M. Wong, M5-branes on $S^2 \times M_4$: Nahm's equations and 4d topological sigma-models, JHEP **09** (2016) 120 [arXiv:1604.03606] [INSPIRE].
- [41] I. Bah et al., 4d N = 1 from 6d N = (1,0) on a torus with fluxes, JHEP **06** (2017) 022 [arXiv:1702.04740] [INSPIRE].
- [42] H.-C. Kim, S.S. Razamat, C. Vafa and G. Zafrir, E-string theory on Riemann surfaces, Fortsch. Phys. 66 (2018) 1700074 [arXiv:1709.02496] [INSPIRE].
- [43] H.-C. Kim, S.S. Razamat, C. Vafa and G. Zafrir, *D-type conformal matter and* SU/USp quivers, JHEP 06 (2018) 058 [arXiv:1802.00620] [INSPIRE].
- [44] H.-C. Kim, S.S. Razamat, C. Vafa and G. Zafrir, Compactifications of ADE conformal matter on a torus, JHEP 09 (2018) 110 [arXiv:1806.07620] [INSPIRE].
- [45] S.S. Razamat and G. Zafrir, Compactification of 6d minimal SCFTs on Riemann surfaces, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 066006 [arXiv:1806.09196] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Chen, B. Haghighat, S. Liu and M. Sperling, 4d N = 1 from 6d D-type N = (1,0), JHEP 01 (2020) 152 [arXiv:1907.00536] [INSPIRE].
- [47] S.S. Razamat, E. Sabag and G. Zafrir, From 6d flows to 4d flows, JHEP 12 (2019) 108 [arXiv:1907.04870] [INSPIRE].
- [48] S. Cecotti, C. Cordova and C. Vafa, Braids, walls, and mirrors, arXiv:1110.2115 [INSPIRE].
- [49] C. Cordova and D.L. Jafferis, Complex Chern-Simons from M5-branes on the squashed three-sphere, JHEP 11 (2017) 119 [arXiv:1305.2891] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Yagi, 3d TQFT from 6d SCFT, JHEP 08 (2013) 017 [arXiv:1305.0291] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Lee and M. Yamazaki, 3d Chern-Simons theory from M5-branes, JHEP 12 (2013) 035 [arXiv:1305.2429] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Gukov and D. Pei, Equivariant Verlinde formula from fivebranes and vortices, Commun. Math. Phys. 355 (2017) 1 [arXiv:1501.01310] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C. Cordova and D.L. Jafferis, Toda theory from six dimensions, JHEP 12 (2017) 106 [arXiv:1605.03997] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. Gukov, D. Pei, P. Putrov and C. Vafa, BPS spectra and 3-manifold invariants, J. Knot Theor. Ramifications 29 (2020) 2040003 [arXiv:1701.06567] [INSPIRE].
- [55] G.Y. Cho, D. Gang and H.-C. Kim, *M-theoretic genesis of topological phases*, JHEP 11 (2020) 115 [arXiv:2007.01532] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Gadde, S. Gukov and P. Putrov, Fivebranes and 4-manifolds, Prog. Math. 319 (2016)
 155 [arXiv:1306.4320] [INSPIRE].

- [57] M. Dedushenko, S. Gukov and P. Putrov, Vertex algebras and 4-manifold invariants, Nigel Hitchin's 70th Birthday Conference 1 (2017) 249 [arXiv:1705.01645] [INSPIRE].
- [58] B. Feigin and S. Gukov, VOA[M₄], J. Math. Phys. 61 (2020) 012302 [arXiv:1806.02470] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Pasquetti, S.S. Razamat, M. Sacchi and G. Zafrir, Rank Q E-string on a torus with flux, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 014 [arXiv:1908.03278] [INSPIRE].
- [60] B. Assel, Y. Tachikawa and A. Tomasiello, On N = 4 supersymmetry enhancements in three dimensions, JHEP 03 (2023) 170 [arXiv:2209.13984] [INSPIRE].
- [61] F. Apruzzi, F. Hassler, J.J. Heckman and I.V. Melnikov, From 6D SCFTs to dynamic GLSMs, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 066015 [arXiv:1610.00718] [INSPIRE].
- [62] S. Gukov, D. Pei, P. Putrov and C. Vafa, 4-manifolds and topological modular forms, JHEP 05 (2021) 084 [arXiv:1811.07884] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Chen, Z. Chen, W. Cui and B. Haghighat, MSW-type compactifications of 6d (1,0) SCFTs on 4-manifolds, arXiv:2211.06943 [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Kapustin and R. Thorngren, *Higher symmetry and gapped phases of gauge theories*, arXiv:1309.4721 [INSPIRE].
- [65] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, Generalized global symmetries, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- [66] I. García Etxebarria, B. Heidenreich and D. Regalado, IIB flux non-commutativity and the global structure of field theories, JHEP 10 (2019) 169 [arXiv:1908.08027] [INSPIRE].
- [67] D.R. Morrison, S. Schafer-Nameki and B. Willett, Higher-form symmetries in 5d, JHEP 09 (2020) 024 [arXiv:2005.12296] [INSPIRE].
- [68] F. Albertini, M. Del Zotto, I. García Etxebarria and S.S. Hosseini, Higher form symmetries and M-theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 203 [arXiv:2005.12831] [INSPIRE].
- [69] F. Apruzzi, M. Dierigl and L. Lin, The fate of discrete 1-form symmetries in 6d, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 047 [arXiv:2008.09117] [INSPIRE].
- [70] A.P. Braun, M. Larfors and P.-K. Oehlmann, Gauged 2-form symmetries in 6D SCFTs coupled to gravity, JHEP 12 (2021) 132 [arXiv:2106.13198] [INSPIRE].
- [71] C. Closset, S. Schafer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Coulomb and Higgs branches from canonical singularities. Part 0, JHEP 02 (2021) 003 [arXiv:2007.15600] [INSPIRE].
- [72] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schäfer-Nameki, *Higher-form symmetries of 6d and 5d theories*, *JHEP* 02 (2021) 159 [arXiv:2008.09600] [INSPIRE].
- [73] C. Closset, S. Giacomelli, S. Schafer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, 5d and 4d SCFTs: canonical singularities, trinions and S-dualities, JHEP 05 (2021) 274 [arXiv:2012.12827] [INSPIRE].
- [74] F. Apruzzi, M. van Beest, D.S.W. Gould and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Holography, 1-form symmetries, and confinement, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 066005 [arXiv:2104.12764]
 [INSPIRE].
- [75] S.S. Hosseini and R. Moscrop, Maruyoshi-Song flows and defect groups of $D_{\rm p}^{\rm b}(G)$ theories, JHEP 10 (2021) 119 [arXiv:2106.03878] [INSPIRE].

- [76] L. Bhardwaj, S. Giacomelli, M. Hübner and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Relative defects in relative theories: trapped higher-form symmetries and irregular punctures in class S, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022) 101 [arXiv:2201.00018] [INSPIRE].
- [77] M. Buican and H. Jiang, 1-form symmetry, isolated N = 2 SCFTs, and Calabi-Yau threefolds, JHEP 12 (2021) 024 [arXiv:2106.09807] [INSPIRE].
- [78] M. Cvetič, J.J. Heckman, E. Torres and G. Zoccarato, Reflections on the matter of 3D N = 1 vacua and local Spin(7) compactifications, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 026008
 [arXiv:2107.00025] [INSPIRE].
- [79] M. Cvetic, M. Dierigl, L. Lin and H.Y. Zhang, Higher-form symmetries and their anomalies in M-/F-theory duality, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 126019 [arXiv:2106.07654] [INSPIRE].
- [80] M. Cvetic, M. Dierigl, L. Lin and H.Y. Zhang, Gauge group topology of 8D Chaudhuri-Hockney-Lykken vacua, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 086018 [arXiv:2107.04031] [INSPIRE].
- [81] C. Closset, S. Schäfer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Coulomb and Higgs branches from canonical singularities. Part I. Hypersurfaces with smooth Calabi-Yau resolutions, JHEP 04 (2022) 061 [arXiv:2111.13564] [INSPIRE].
- [82] P.B. Genolini and L. Tizzano, Comments on global symmetries and anomalies of 5d SCFTs, arXiv:2201.02190 [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Del Zotto et al., Higher symmetries of 5D orbifold SCFTs, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 046010 [arXiv:2201.08372] [INSPIRE].
- [84] M. Cvetič, M. Dierigl, L. Lin and H.Y. Zhang, All eight- and nine-dimensional string vacua from junctions, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 026007 [arXiv:2203.03644] [INSPIRE].
- [85] E. Sharpe, Notes on generalized global symmetries in QFT, Fortsch. Phys. 63 (2015) 659 [arXiv:1508.04770] [INSPIRE].
- [86] Y. Tachikawa, On gauging finite subgroups, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 015 [arXiv:1712.09542] [INSPIRE].
- [87] C. Córdova, T.T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, Exploring 2-group global symmetries, JHEP 02 (2019) 184 [arXiv:1802.04790] [INSPIRE].
- [88] F. Benini, C. Córdova and P.-S. Hsin, On 2-group global symmetries and their anomalies, JHEP 03 (2019) 118 [arXiv:1803.09336] [INSPIRE].
- [89] C. Cordova, T.T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, 2-group global symmetries and anomalies in six-dimensional quantum field theories, JHEP 04 (2021) 252 [arXiv:2009.00138] [INSPIRE].
- [90] Y. Lee, K. Ohmori and Y. Tachikawa, Matching higher symmetries across Intriligator-Seiberg duality, JHEP 10 (2021) 114 [arXiv:2108.05369] [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Del Zotto and K. Ohmori, 2-group symmetries of 6D little string theories and T-duality, Annales Henri Poincare 22 (2021) 2451 [arXiv:2009.03489] [INSPIRE].
- [92] F. Apruzzi, L. Bhardwaj, D.S.W. Gould and S. Schafer-Nameki, 2-group symmetries and their classification in 6d, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 098 [arXiv:2110.14647] [INSPIRE].
- [93] F. Apruzzi, S. Schafer-Nameki, L. Bhardwaj and J. Oh, The global form of flavor symmetries and 2-group symmetries in 5d SCFTs, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022) 024 [arXiv:2105.08724] [INSPIRE].

- [94] L. Bhardwaj, 2-group symmetries in class S, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 152 [arXiv:2107.06816] [INSPIRE].
- [95] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schafer-Nameki, Generalized charges. Part I. Invertible symmetries and higher representations, arXiv:2304.02660 [INSPIRE].
- [96] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore and A. Grigoletto, *Higher representations for extended operators*, arXiv:2304.03789 [INSPIRE].
- [97] E.P. Verlinde, Fusion rules and modular transformations in 2D conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 300 (1988) 360 [INSPIRE].
- [98] L. Bhardwaj and Y. Tachikawa, On finite symmetries and their gauging in two dimensions, JHEP 03 (2018) 189 [arXiv:1704.02330] [INSPIRE].
- [99] C.-M. Chang et al., Topological defect lines and renormalization group flows in two dimensions, JHEP 01 (2019) 026 [arXiv:1802.04445] [INSPIRE].
- [100] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, Fusion category symmetry I: anomaly in-flow and gapped phases, arXiv:1912.02817 [INSPIRE].
- [101] R. Thorngren and Y. Wang, Fusion category symmetry II: categoriosities at c = 1 and beyond, arXiv:2106.12577 [INSPIRE].
- [102] Z. Komargodski, K. Ohmori, K. Roumpedakis and S. Seifnashri, Symmetries and strings of adjoint QCD₂, JHEP 03 (2021) 103 [arXiv:2008.07567] [INSPIRE].
- [103] Y. Choi et al., Noninvertible duality defects in 3+1 dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 125016 [arXiv:2111.01139] [INSPIRE].
- [104] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, Kramers-Wannier-like duality defects in (3+1)D gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 111601 [arXiv:2111.01141] [INSPIRE].
- [105] M. Koide, Y. Nagoya and S. Yamaguchi, Non-invertible topological defects in 4-dimensional Z₂ pure lattice gauge theory, PTEP 2022 (2022) 013B03 [arXiv:2109.05992] [INSPIRE].
- [106] Y. Choi et al., Non-invertible condensation, duality, and triality defects in 3+1 dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 402 (2023) 489 [arXiv:2204.09025] [INSPIRE].
- [107] G. Arias-Tamargo and D. Rodriguez-Gomez, Non-invertible symmetries from discrete gauging and completeness of the spectrum, JHEP 04 (2023) 093 [arXiv:2204.07523] [INSPIRE].
- [108] Y. Hayashi and Y. Tanizaki, Non-invertible self-duality defects of Cardy-Rabinovici model and mixed gravitational anomaly, JHEP 08 (2022) 036 [arXiv:2204.07440] [INSPIRE].
- [109] K. Roumpedakis, S. Seifnashri and S.-H. Shao, Higher gauging and non-invertible condensation defects, Commun. Math. Phys. 401 (2023) 3043 [arXiv:2204.02407]
 [INSPIRE].
- [110] J. Kaidi, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Non-invertible symmetries of N = 4 SYM and twisted compactification, JHEP 08 (2022) 053 [arXiv:2205.01104] [INSPIRE].
- [111] Y. Choi, H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Noninvertible global symmetries in the standard model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 161601 [arXiv:2205.05086] [INSPIRE].
- [112] C. Cordova and K. Ohmori, Noninvertible chiral symmetry and exponential hierarchies, Phys. Rev. X 13 (2023) 011034 [arXiv:2205.06243] [INSPIRE].

- [113] A. Antinucci, G. Galati and G. Rizi, On continuous 2-category symmetries and Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 12 (2022) 061 [arXiv:2206.05646] [INSPIRE].
- [114] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto and A. Hasan, On the 6d origin of non-invertible symmetries in 4d, JHEP 09 (2023) 161 [arXiv:2206.07073] [INSPIRE].
- [115] J.A. Damia, R. Argurio and L. Tizzano, Continuous generalized symmetries in three dimensions, JHEP 23 (2023) 164 [arXiv:2206.14093] [INSPIRE].
- [116] J.A. Damia, R. Argurio and E. Garcia-Valdecasas, Non-invertible defects in 5d, boundaries and holography, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 067 [arXiv:2207.02831] [INSPIRE].
- [117] Y. Choi, H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Noninvertible time-reversal symmetry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 131602 [arXiv:2208.04331] [INSPIRE].
- [118] D.-C. Lu and Z. Sun, On triality defects in 2d CFT, JHEP 02 (2023) 173
 [arXiv:2208.06077] [INSPIRE].
- [119] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schafer-Nameki and J. Wu, Universal non-invertible symmetries, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022) 2200143 [arXiv:2208.05973] [INSPIRE].
- [120] L. Lin, D.G. Robbins and E. Sharpe, Decomposition, condensation defects, and fusion, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022) 2200130 [arXiv:2208.05982] [INSPIRE].
- [121] F. Apruzzi, I. Bah, F. Bonetti and S. Schafer-Nameki, Noninvertible symmetries from holography and branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 121601 [arXiv:2208.07373] [INSPIRE].
- [122] I. García Etxebarria, Branes and non-invertible symmetries, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022) 2200154 [arXiv:2208.07508] [INSPIRE].
- [123] F. Benini, C. Copetti and L. Di Pietro, Factorization and global symmetries in holography, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 019 [arXiv:2203.09537] [INSPIRE].
- [124] J. Wang and Y.-Z. You, Gauge enhanced quantum criticality between grand unifications: categorical higher symmetry retraction, arXiv:2111.10369 [INSPIRE].
- [125] X. Chen et al., Loops in 4 + 1d topological phases, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 001
 [arXiv:2112.02137] [INSPIRE].
- M. Del Zotto and I. García Etxebarria, Global structures from the infrared, JHEP 11 (2023)
 058 [arXiv:2204.06495] [INSPIRE].
- [127] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and S. Schafer-Nameki, Anomalies of generalized symmetries from solitonic defects, arXiv:2205.15330 [INSPIRE].
- [128] T.D. Brennan, C. Cordova and T.T. Dumitrescu, Line defect quantum numbers & anomalies, arXiv:2206.15401 [INSPIRE].
- [129] D. Delmastro, J. Gomis, P.-S. Hsin and Z. Komargodski, Anomalies and symmetry fractionalization, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 079 [arXiv:2206.15118] [INSPIRE].
- [130] J.J. Heckman, M. Hübner, E. Torres and H.Y. Zhang, The branes behind generalized symmetry operators, Fortsch. Phys. 71 (2023) 2200180 [arXiv:2209.03343] [INSPIRE].
- [131] D.S. Freed, G.W. Moore and C. Teleman, *Topological symmetry in quantum field theory*, arXiv:2209.07471 [INSPIRE].
- [132] D.S. Freed, Introduction to topological symmetry in QFT, arXiv:2212.00195 [INSPIRE].
- [133] P. Niro, K. Roumpedakis and O. Sela, Exploring non-invertible symmetries in free theories, JHEP 03 (2023) 005 [arXiv:2209.11166] [INSPIRE].

- [134] N. Mekareeya and M. Sacchi, Mixed anomalies, two-groups, non-invertible symmetries, and 3d superconformal indices, JHEP 01 (2023) 115 [arXiv:2210.02466] [INSPIRE].
- [135] A. Antinucci et al., The holography of non-invertible self-duality symmetries, arXiv:2210.09146 [INSPIRE].
- [136] S. Chen and Y. Tanizaki, Solitonic symmetry beyond homotopy: invertibility from bordism and noninvertibility from topological quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131 (2023) 011602 [arXiv:2210.13780] [INSPIRE].
- [137] A. Karasik, On anomalies and gauging of U(1) non-invertible symmetries in 4d QED, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 002 [arXiv:2211.05802] [INSPIRE].
- [138] C. Cordova, S. Hong, S. Koren and K. Ohmori, Neutrino masses from generalized symmetry breaking, arXiv:2211.07639 [INSPIRE].
- [139] T.D. Décoppet and M. Yu, Gauging noninvertible defects: a 2-categorical perspective, Lett. Math. Phys. 113 (2023) 36 [arXiv:2211.08436] [INSPIRE].
- [140] I. García Etxebarria and N. Iqbal, A Goldstone theorem for continuous non-invertible symmetries, JHEP 09 (2023) 145 [arXiv:2211.09570] [INSPIRE].
- [141] Y. Choi, H.T. Lam and S.-H. Shao, Non-invertible Gauss law and axions, JHEP 09 (2023) 067 [arXiv:2212.04499] [INSPIRE].
- [142] R. Yokokura, Non-invertible symmetries in axion electrodynamics, arXiv:2212.05001 [INSPIRE].
- [143] L. Bhardwaj, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Unifying constructions of non-invertible symmetries, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 122 [arXiv:2212.06159] [INSPIRE].
- [144] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Non-invertible symmetry webs, SciPost Phys. 15 (2023) 160 [arXiv:2212.06842] [INSPIRE].
- [145] P.-S. Hsin, Non-invertible defects in nonlinear sigma models and coupling to topological orders, arXiv:2212.08608 [INSPIRE].
- [146] J.J. Heckman et al., Top down approach to topological duality defects, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 046015 [arXiv:2212.09743] [INSPIRE].
- [147] A. Antinucci, C. Copetti, G. Galati and G. Rizi, "Zoology" of non-invertible duality defects: the view from class S, arXiv:2212.09549 [INSPIRE].
- [148] A. Apte, C. Cordova and H.T. Lam, Obstructions to gapped phases from noninvertible symmetries, Phys. Rev. B 108 (2023) 045134 [arXiv:2212.14605] [INSPIRE].
- [149] E. García-Valdecasas, Non-invertible symmetries in supergravity, JHEP 04 (2023) 102
 [arXiv:2301.00777] [INSPIRE].
- [150] C. Delcamp and A. Tiwari, Higher categorical symmetries and gauging in two-dimensional spin systems, arXiv:2301.01259 [INSPIRE].
- [151] L. Bhardwaj, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and S. Schafer-Nameki, Generalized symmetries and anomalies of 3d N = 4 SCFTs, arXiv:2301.02249 [INSPIRE].
- [152] L. Bhardwaj, L.E. Bottini, S. Schafer-Nameki and A. Tiwari, Non-invertible higher-categorical symmetries, SciPost Phys. 14 (2023) 007 [arXiv:2204.06564] [INSPIRE].
- [153] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and J. Pearson, Non-invertible symmetries and higher representation theory I, arXiv:2208.05993 [INSPIRE].

- [154] T. Bartsch, M. Bullimore, A.E.V. Ferrari and J. Pearson, Non-invertible symmetries and higher representation theory II, arXiv:2212.07393 [INSPIRE].
- [155] F. Apruzzi et al., Symmetry TFTs from string theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 402 (2023) 895 [arXiv:2112.02092] [INSPIRE].
- [156] F. Apruzzi, Higher form symmetries TFT in 6d, JHEP 11 (2022) 050 [arXiv:2203.10063]
 [INSPIRE].
- [157] M. van Beest, D.S.W. Gould, S. Schafer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Symmetry TFTs for 3d QFTs from M-theory, JHEP 02 (2023) 226 [arXiv:2210.03703] [INSPIRE].
- [158] J. Kaidi, K. Ohmori and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs for non-invertible defects, Commun. Math. Phys. 404 (2023) 1021 [arXiv:2209.11062] [INSPIRE].
- [159] V. Bashmakov, M. Del Zotto, A. Hasan and J. Kaidi, Non-invertible symmetries of class S theories, JHEP 05 (2023) 225 [arXiv:2211.05138] [INSPIRE].
- [160] J. Kaidi, E. Nardoni, G. Zafrir and Y. Zheng, Symmetry TFTs and anomalies of non-invertible symmetries, JHEP 10 (2023) 053 [arXiv:2301.07112] [INSPIRE].
- [161] E. Witten, AdS/CFT correspondence and topological field theory, JHEP 12 (1998) 012
 [hep-th/9812012] [INSPIRE].
- [162] E. Witten, Geometric Langlands from six dimensions, arXiv:0905.2720 [INSPIRE].
- [163] Y. Tachikawa, On the 6d origin of discrete additional data of 4d gauge theories, JHEP 05 (2014) 020 [arXiv:1309.0697] [INSPIRE].
- [164] S. Gukov, P.-S. Hsin and D. Pei, Generalized global symmetries of T[M] theories. Part I, JHEP 04 (2021) 232 [arXiv:2010.15890] [INSPIRE].
- [165] A. Kapustin and N. Saulina, Topological boundary conditions in Abelian Chern-Simons theory, Nucl. Phys. B 845 (2011) 393 [arXiv:1008.0654] [INSPIRE].
- [166] D. Gaiotto and J. Kulp, Orbifold groupoids, JHEP 02 (2021) 132 [arXiv:2008.05960] [INSPIRE].
- [167] D. Delmastro and J. Gomis, Symmetries of Abelian Chern-Simons theories and arithmetic, JHEP 03 (2021) 006 [arXiv:1904.12884] [INSPIRE].
- [168] M. Del Zotto, J.J. Heckman, D.S. Park and T. Rudelius, On the defect group of a 6D SCFT, Lett. Math. Phys. 106 (2016) 765 [arXiv:1503.04806] [INSPIRE].
- [169] O. Aharony, N. Seiberg and Y. Tachikawa, Reading between the lines of four-dimensional gauge theories, JHEP 08 (2013) 115 [arXiv:1305.0318] [INSPIRE].
- [170] Y.-H. Lin, M. Okada, S. Seifnashri and Y. Tachikawa, Asymptotic density of states in 2d CFTs with non-invertible symmetries, JHEP 03 (2023) 094 [arXiv:2208.05495] [INSPIRE].
- [171] R. Dijkgraaf and E. Witten, Topological gauge theories and group cohomology, Commun. Math. Phys. 129 (1990) 393 [INSPIRE].
- [172] C. Montonen and D.I. Olive, Magnetic monopoles as gauge particles?, Phys. Lett. B 72 (1977) 117 [INSPIRE].
- [173] C. Vafa, Geometric origin of Montonen-Olive duality, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1 (1998) 158 [hep-th/9707131] [INSPIRE].
- [174] L.F. Alday, F. Benini and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville/Toda central charges from M5-branes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 141601 [arXiv:0909.4776] [INSPIRE].

- [175] A. Karch, D. Tong and C. Turner, A web of 2d dualities: Z₂ gauge fields and Arf invariants, SciPost Phys. 7 (2019) 007 [arXiv:1902.05550] [INSPIRE].
- [176] W. Ji, S.-H. Shao and X.-G. Wen, Topological transition on the conformal manifold, Phys. Rev. Res. 2 (2020) 033317 [arXiv:1909.01425] [INSPIRE].
- [177] B. Haghighat and S. Vandoren, Five-dimensional gauge theory and compactification on a torus, JHEP 09 (2011) 060 [arXiv:1107.2847] [INSPIRE].
- [178] B. Haghighat, J. Manschot and S. Vandoren, A 5d/2d/4d correspondence, JHEP 03 (2013)
 157 [arXiv:1211.0513] [INSPIRE].
- [179] C.-M. Chang, J. Chen and F. Xu, Topological defect lines in two dimensional fermionic CFTs, arXiv:2208.02757 [INSPIRE].
- [180] D. Gaiotto and T. Johnson-Freyd, Condensations in higher categories, arXiv:1905.09566 [INSPIRE].
- [181] A. Kapustin and N. Seiberg, Coupling a QFT to a TQFT and duality, JHEP 04 (2014) 001 [arXiv:1401.0740] [INSPIRE].
- [182] J. Manschot, BPS invariants of N = 4 gauge theory on Hirzebruch surfaces, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 6 (2012) 497 [arXiv:1103.0012] [INSPIRE].
- [183] W. Ji and X.-G. Wen, Non-invertible anomalies and mapping-class-group transformation of anomalous partition functions, Phys. Rev. Research. 1 (2019) 033054 [arXiv:1905.13279]
 [INSPIRE].